EXPLORING THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES RESETTLED IN THE USA: A DESCRIPTIVE PHENOMENOLOGY STUDY

By

BETTY C. TONUI

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate School of Social Work in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

The University of Texas at Arlington May 2020

Supervising Committee:

Anne Nordberg, Supervising Professor

Amy Speier

Diane Mitschke

Eusebius Small

Philip Baiden

Copyright © Betty Chelangat Tonui 2020 All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to many individuals who have supported me throughout my Ph.D. journey. I am also thankful to have enrolled in a program that has provided essential opportunities to work and receive mentorship by several excellent scholars. First, I would like to thank my dissertation chair, Dr. Anne Nordberg. I was inspired by your qualitative expertise when I enrolled in your Qualitative course that was a requirement of the Ph.D. program. This course encouraged and motivated me to conduct a qualitative study. Thank you for chairing my dissertation work, for your guidance and your support during this intense process. I am grateful for your mentorship in this process. You have challenged me to think critically, encouraged me to reach my potential, and assisted me in shaping my study. I would not have completed this journey without your support. Thank you.

I would like to extend my appreciation to Dr. Eusebius Small for your encouraging support throughout the years. Thank you for your mentorship and for inspiring me through the creation of opportunities that fostered challenges and opportunities for academic growth. Also, thank you for having an open-door policy and for continually placing your work on hold so you can converse and encourage students. Your investment in my professional development is deeply appreciated.

Dr. Diane Mitschke, I knew I would have a mentor working on refugee studies when I entered the Ph.D. program. Your expertise in refugee work and your contribution to my dissertation was valuable. It has been a pleasure working with you. You inspired me with your commitment and dedication to the refugee community, and I have appreciated the opportunity to work with you, learn from you while engaging one-on-one with refugees at your clinic. Thank you for your continued support and encouragement throughout the Ph.D. program. Dr. Philip Baiden, you have been instrumental in my journey. Thank you for your mentorship. I have learned a lot through collaborative work. I have been fortunate to learn from your excellent scholarship.

Dr. Amy Speier, thank you for willing to serve in my committee and for your input in my dissertation work. Thank you for all the resources you have provided me and for making time for me to stop by your office!

To my other mentors

Marcela Nava. I benefited from your knowledge and was inspired by your mentorship. I was fortunate that our paths crossed. Working for you as a graduate assistant provided me with so much knowledge about the immigrant population, specifically health disparities. Thank you.

Dr. Rose Korang-Okrah, you have been there since my master's program. You have been encouraging, and I am truly blessed by your persistent support.

Dr. Cecilia Mengo, Dr. Bonita Sharma, Dr. Dorothea Ivey, Dr. Mona Shamsun, Dr. Moses Okumu, and Dr. Bernadette Ombayo, thank you all very much. You have played a significant role in my success. Thank you.

To my cohort members: Thank you all for your support. Dr. Latocia Keyes, Kristen Ravi, Nibedeta Shrestha, Erin Murphy, and Brittany Eghaneyan. You all have been my greatest support team to lean on. This journey has been so worth it with you in it. Thank you.

To my friends: Mellindy Gregory, Tita Rannabarger-Dunbar, Kahaita Fenderson, late Catherine Harvey, Jessica Larson, Corinne Shaw, Jenny Pongracz, Grace Burris, Joel Mutai, Monica Kirui, Naziri Komundage, Joshua Kosgei, John Ngetuny, Barnabus Kirui, Picoty Melly, Victor Rotich. Your emotional support, phone calls, texts, and prayers have served me well in this journey. To my best friend, Jeff Adden, I consider myself lucky for your friendship and feel blessed by you. You have been a great listener, loving and supportive, and you are dedicated to my success. Thank you for all that you do.

To my late parents Julius and Josephine Tonui, I know you are proud of me, and I wish I could share these moments with you. I will forever miss you. Elijah and Rachel Bet. Thank you so much. I would not be in the U.S. without you. Thank you for your prayers and support!

To my adopted parents, Russell & Janice Williams, whom I call Mom and Dad, thank you for welcoming me into your home and family in the U.S. You have supported me for many years. You have gone above and beyond to see me succeed. You have cared for me, loved me, and challenged me. I would not be who I am and where I am without your continued moral support, your dedication towards my education, your endless financial support, and, more importantly, your prayers. Thank you for all the love packages, all the frozen crockpot meals, baked goods to offset my cooking time. Thank you. They served me well. I am blessed to have parents who truly value education. Your generosity, selfless, kind, supportive, dedicated, compassionate the ability to put others first is impressive. Your love for Christ and others in the community is extremely inspirational. I have learned, grown, and appreciate many of these attributes. You are wonderful role models, and I adore both of you. Thank you for everything. I am forever grateful to have you in my life. I love you both.

To my adopted siblings in the USA, thank you for all the support and to my siblings in Kenya -super grateful for your support and prayers as well.

To my village that invested in me-- Your prayers and support have made it possible for me to be where I am today. Thank you all so much: Paula & Gary Borah, Gene & Cindi Jones, Al & Sandy Stevens, Sherri & Larry Barry, Diane Schleyhan, Quanie Wheeler, Jan Krell, Bethanie Drake, Terri & Eric Woolbright, Barbara Hahn, Rob & Lisa Burris, Jan Michaelson, The Freijes, Pastor Jeff Nelsen, Lucy Jensen, and Carol Ray. I thank God for each other. Thank you for your commitment to loving people. Thank you for your prayers.

And to everyone here at UTA that I did not get to mention, Thank you! My encounters with you have made a difference. Thank you!

Without God, I could not have done it all. He has blessed me with an amazing family and a great support system. I thank God for everything. Thank you!

Dedication

I would like to express my gratitude to my participants who generously participated in this research project by sharing their experiences. It was an honor to learn about these experiences. I am forever grateful that you allowed me to ask you questions about your experiences. Listening to your stories was a humbling experience. I hope that my role was equally inspiring to you. Thank you to Leonid Reghet, a community partner, who assisted in posting my study in his community of refugees. You were instrumental in this effort. Again, to my participants for referring me to your social circles. Thank you. I appreciated your support.

Abstract

EXPLORING THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES RESETTLED IN DALLAS FORT WORTH: A DESCRIPTIVE PHENOMENOLOGY STUDY

Betty Tonui, MSW

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to explore the lived experiences associated with (genocide, migration, resettlement) and socio/cultural factors that influenced Rwandan refugees' mental health in the United States (U.S.). In 2018, there were more than 25 million refugees displaced around the world, and more than 50,000 refugees were admitted to the United States in 2017 (UNHCR, 2019). Studies have shown that refugees are more likely to develop post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety than the general population (Bogic et al., 2015; Goodkind et al., 2017). Despite the prevalence of mental health concerns amongst refugees, minimal information is known about the experiences of genocide, migration, resettlement, and socio/cultural factors of Rwandan refugees resettled in the U.S. To capture these experiences, the study utilized the ecological systems theory to lend insight into how the mental experiences of Rwandan refugees are influenced by events that occurred during the Rwandan genocide (pre-migration) and resettlement. In doing so, the study utilized a descriptive phenomenological study to understand Rwandan refugees' experiences. This study used purposive snowball sampling to recruit thirteen individuals who self-identified as Rwandan refugees. Data were obtained through in-depth interviews and were analyzed using Colaizzi's (1978) five steps of descriptive phenomenological analysis. Four major themes and one subtheme emerged from in-depth interviews. The identified themes and subthemes were as follows: 1) Traumatic Experiences of Rwandan refugees: 1a) Effects of Trauma 2) Resettlement

Experiences of Rwandan refugees in the U.S. 3) *Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking Among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.* and 4) *Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S.* These findings extend the literature on how untreated traumas may be exacerbated by socio-cultural aspects or migration to produce lasting negative effects on survivors and refugees. Collectively, the challenges that Rwandan refugees face cannot be resolved by one-size-fits-all or a silver bullet but rather calls for the development and implementation of multi-level and multi-component culturally attuned interventions.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
Dedication	vii
Abstract	viii
List of Tables	xiii
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Brief Rwandan History	2
Definition of Terms	4
Problem Statement	5
Importance to Social Work	7
Summary	9
Chapter Two: Literature Review	
History of the 1994 Rwandan Genocide	
Psychological Effects of the 1994 Rwandan Genocide	
Rwandan Displacement	
Migration to the U.S.	
Resettlement Experiences for Rwandan Refugees	
Psychological Conditions Faced by Rwandan Refugees	
Rwandan Refugee Experiences of Mental Health Care	
Mental Health Intervention for Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.	
Critique of the Studies	
Theoretical Framework	
Conclusion	
Chapter Three: Methodology	

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

Introduction	. 38
Instrumentation	. 38
Research Design	. 39
Sampling and Recruitment Methods	. 40
Participants	. 41
Ethics	. 44
Data Analysis	. 45
Trustworthiness	. 46
Summary	. 47
Chapter Four: Results	. 48
Introduction	. 48
Participants' Demographics	. 48
Sub-theme 1a: Effects of Trauma Among Rwandan Refugees	. 54
Theme 2: Resettlement Experiences of Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.	. 57
Theme 3: Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking Among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S	. 67
Theme 4: Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S.	. 76
Summary	. 81
Chapter Five: Discussion	. 82
Introduction	. 82
Research Consistent with Previous Literature	. 83
Trauma Experiences	. 83
Resettlement Experiences	. 84
Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking	. 86
Help-Seeking Behaviors	. 88

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

Implications for Social Work Practice	
Policy Implications	
Implication for Social Work Education	96
Limitations and Strengths of the Study	
Implications for Future Research	100
Conclusion	101
References	

List of Tables

Table 1: Participant Demographics	50
-----------------------------------	----

Chapter One:

Introduction

In 2017, more than 50,000 refugees were admitted into the United States, some of whom were from Rwanda, Somalia, Ethiopia, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (UHNCR, 2019). Other than the US, Rwandan refugees escaped to other countries following the Rwandan genocide of 1994. The genocide contributed to numerous social mayhem, destruction of property, looting, sexual violence, and brutal murders (Mutabaruka., 2012; Neugebauer et al., 2014). The associated post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, and anxiety were exceedingly horrendous (Munyandamutsa et al., 2012; Neugebauer et al., 2009; Schaal & Elbert, 2006). By having a better understanding of experiences associated with genocide, migration, and mental health concerns are essential for researchers to gain a better understanding of the effects of violence, traumatization, and their cumulative impact on refugee resettlement (Banyanga et al., 2017). The research suggested that refugee post-migration experience challenges contribute to psychological concerns such as cultural and linguistic challenges, economic and social challenges, stigma and social isolation and difficulty adapting to different social roles (Espinoza, 2016; Yako, & Biswas, 2013: Li et al., 2016; Tingog et al., 2017: Bogic et al., 2015; Fazel et al., 2005; Fisher, 2013 and Turrini et al., 2017). Given the excess of stressors, mental health interventions for refugees are designed to target trauma experienced during the conflict, sociocultural challenges specific to their new homeland, and daily stressors associated with resettlement (Bogic et al., 2015). The study aimed to discover the lived experiences (associated with genocide, migration, and resettlement) and socio/cultural factors that impact Rwandan refugee mental health and well-being.

Brief Rwandan History

The Rwandan genocide, it is argued, began when the colonial German (and later, Belgian) administrators allowed the Tutsis more political, educational, and economic privileges than the Hutu (Porter et al., 2006). The preferential treatment for Tutsis disfavored the Hutu, who were considered inferior and expected to perform hard labor jobs. In the 1950s, the Belgian political powers changed their allegiance from the ruling Tutsi minority to the Hutu majority, leading to ethnic tensions that culminated in the Hutu revolt of 1959 (Des Forges, 1999; Porter et al., 2006). Between 1960 and before Rwanda gained its independence in 1962, 10,000 Tutsis were murdered, and about 120,000 fled to the neighboring countries as refugees (Porter et al., 2006). Rwanda was then ruled by the Hutu political parties, but the Tutsis were marginalized and excluded from political power (Porter et al., 2006). Even so, power-sharing was initiated before the 1994 Rwandan genocide.

The 1994 genocide began on April 6, the night Juvenal Habyarimana—President of Rwanda, who was Hutu, was returning from Tanzania after attending meetings in Arusha (Des Forges, 1999). The purpose of these meetings was to structure and implement a shared governmental power between the Hutu and the Tutsi (Des Forges, 1999). As the Rwandan President prepared to land in Rwanda's capital city Kigali, the plane was shot down, killing both the Rwandan and the Burundian presidents and other military personnel (Des Forges, 1999; Hagengimana et al., 2003; Prunier, 1995). The Rwandan government blamed the Rwandan Patriotic Front (the ruling political party) and the Tutsi for killing their president (Prunier, 1995). In retaliation for President Habyarimana's death, the Hutu erected roadblocks in Kigali and initiated the mass slaughter of the Tutsis, opposing politicians, and moderate Hutus (i.e., Hutus who supported the Tutsi rebel groups) according to prepared death lists (Porter et al., 2006). The president's assassination provoked a campaign of genocide against the Tutsis and moderate Hutus in which as many as one million people, or 11% of the country's total population, were murdered within 100 days (Des Forges, 1999; Hagengimana et al., 2003; Prunier, 1995). The genocide victims would include more than 84% of Rwanda's Tutsi population (Cohen, 2007; Porter et al., 2006).

Other atrocities during this time included the rape of more than 250,000 women and children by militia members, resulting in more than 70% of them becoming infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV; Cohen, 2007; Gourevitch, 1998; Human Rights Watch, 1996; Mullins, 2009; Zraly et al., 2011). The war led to four million internally displaced people (IDPs) and an additional 2.3 million people who fled the country and became refugees in other countries. The cumulative effect of the war, including the mass murders, contributed to a reduction in Rwanda's population by 50% (Cohen, 2007; Dyregrov et al., 2000; Hagengimana et al., 2003). In addition to the killings, millions of Rwandans. Many were tortured, branded with heated metal, sexually mutilated, hacked with machetes, orphaned, forced to witness or participate in the murder of family members, or killed by subsequent outbreaks of diseases such as cholera (Cohen, 2007; Neugebauer et al., 2009; Pham et al., 2004; Schaal et al., 2012; Schaal & Elbert, 2006).

During the genocide, Rwandans were impacted by the devastation of their schools, businesses, and churches (Eftekhari, 2004; Schaal et al., 2012). Rwanda's infrastructure was left in shambles, and its political and economic systems were in disarray. Healthcare facilities were demolished, and services were stopped (Rugema, 2016). Healthcare services were disrupted by the murder or flight of providers (Logie et al., 2008). During the four months after the genocide, when the Tutsi-led RPF had regained control of the country, an estimated two million Hutus fled Rwanda to take refuge in Burundi, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zaire (now known as the Democratic Republic of Congo), due to fear of retaliation. Soon after the RPF took power, the United Nations (UN) troops and international organizations helped to restore order and basic services (United Nations, 1996).

Despite international assistance, physical and mental health needs were not met based on the acute shortage of medical professionals, facilities, and services (Binagwaho et al., 2013). Additionally, Rwanda faced political instability and a crippled economy, resulting in high unemployment rates and financial difficulty in meeting their basic needs (Richmond & Galgano, 2019; Mbanjumucyo et al.,2015). Two and a half decades after the genocide, Rwanda recovered economically and improved its infrastructure; however, the genocide left Rwandans with mental health concerns that are well-documented in the literature (Mahr & Campbell, 2016). After the genocide, these same mental health issues affected the Rwandans who resettled in the United States (Goodkind et al., 2014).

Definition of Terms

Genocide. United Nations' Office of the High Commissioner of Humans Rights ([OHCHR], 2018, para. 10), genocide is described as "acts committed with intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, such as (a) Killing members of the group; (b) Causing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group; (c) Deliberately inflicting on the group conditions of life calculated to bring about its physical destruction in whole or in part; (d) Imposing measures intended to prevent births within the group; (e) Forcibly transferring children of the group to another group."

Mental health. The World Health Organization (WHO), mental health is defined as "a state of well-being in which every individual realizes his or her potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to contribute to her or his community" (2014, para. 1).

Refugee. A refugee, as defined by the UNHCR, is a person who is forcibly displaced outside their native country, who demonstrates that he or she has been persecuted or has a reason to fear persecution on the grounds of religion, race, political opinion, nationality, and membership in a particular social group, or who experiences hardships such as famine, violence, and genocide (UNHCR, 2018c).

Resettlement "the transfer of refugees from an asylum country to another State that has agreed to admit them and ultimately grants them permanent settlement" (UNHCR, 2019, para. 2).

Trauma. A deeply disturbing experience that elicits an emotional response (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2018). Typically, shock and denial are two common outcomes of trauma. Additionally, the list of long-term effects may also encompass unpredictable emotions, flashbacks of traumatic events, stressful relationships, and even physical symptoms, such as headaches or nausea (APA, 2018).

Well-being. A general state of happiness (APA, 2019). This includes generally low levels of stress in an individual's life (APA, 2019). According to the American Psychiatric Association (2019), well-being ideally includes a life that is free from trauma, pain, or stress.

Problem Statement

By 2018, there were 68.5 million forcibly displaced individuals throughout the world, of which 25.4 million were refugees, 40 million were internally displaced, and 3.1 million were asylum seekers (United States Department of State, 2018). Genocide contributed to human displacement and associated consequences. Researchers reported that these numbers would continue to rise, requiring successful resettlement of refugees in new host countries (Dunn, 2016; Esses et al., 2017; Simich et al., 2003) and the United States has the largest and oldest refugee resettling history around the globe (UNHCR, 2019).

Successful resettlement partially depends on the mental health status of refugees (Esses et al., 2017; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; King et al., 2017). The general problem is that refugees are ten times more likely to develop PTSD and four to five times more likely to develop depression and anxiety than the general population (Turrini et al., 2017; Morina et al., 2017). People who face wars and atrocities experience tremendous health and psychological problems. The poor mental health of refugees is associated with other factors that influence refugees' ability to thrive, such as gaining employment or housing, learning a new language and culture, and navigating foreign healthcare services (Cengiz et al., 2019; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; Kim & Kim, 2014; Kim, 2016). The experience of trauma does not resolve when refugees leave their conflict-ridden home; the immigration process and adapting to new social, environmental, and cultural contexts of life can itself be challenging and stressful (Aoun et al., 2018; Bogic et al., 2015; King et al., 2017). This is factual in scenarios where the receiving country does not have a supportive infrastructure to handle the incoming refugee population. Because of the variations in the socio-economic environment where refugees resettle, their resettlement process will equally differ (Aoun et al., 2018; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; Mahr & Campbell, 2016).

Refugees have experienced extremely stressful events related to their refugee status. Because of political or cultural oppression and war migration and resettlement, refugees, suffer tremendous trauma. For example, Rwandan refugees are resettled in the U.S. following the Rwandan genocide. Even though the 1994 Rwandan genocide happened two and a half decades ago, longitudinal studies have documented that individuals exposed to trauma such as the genocide frequently report PTSD symptoms, which may emerge soon after the exposure while others may experience chronic PTSD symptoms (Shalev, 2009). In this case, the 1994 Rwandan genocide survivors may re-experience traumatic memories of the war during their resettlement. Studies that have examined the long-term mental health consequences of the 1994 Rwandan genocide suggest that survivors continued to report PSTD symptoms two decades later (Eytan et al., 2015; Munyandamutsa et al., 2012). The most-reported symptoms include the following: flashback memories, avoidance, anger, persistent crying, and fear, which is often exacerbated by different events in one's life, such as migration (Banyanga et al., 2017). As earlier mentioned, sexual abuse during the genocide was used as a weapon inflicted on women leaving a lasting psychological effect both for the victims and the perpetrators (African Rights, 2004). Genocide rape survivors have reported carrying a permanent mark of their experiences on their minds (Banyanga et al., 2017).

Furthermore, evidence suggested that children born as a result of rape suffer from depression, anxiety, and social stigma (Banyanga et al., 2017). Further, evidence also indicates that exposure to trauma can be intergenerational meaning it can be transmitted from one generation to other (Betancourt et al., 2015; Neuner et al., 2004) and migration has been cited worsen mental health especially for refugee (Betancourt et al., 2015). It is imperative to explore the experiences of Rwandan refugees given that this population has endured myriads of challenges and their experiences are not well understood during resettlement and to the researcher's knowledge, no evidence describes their experiences following their resettlement in the U.S. The purpose of the current study was to gain an understanding of the lived experiences (associated with genocide, migration, and resettlement) and socio/cultural factors that impact their mental health and well-being. By understanding this phenomenon, it may assist in informing health care providers on resettlement policies on more effective integration and healing practices for this vulnerable population.

Importance to Social Work

Social workers strive to be culturally competent in delivering services to individuals from other cultures. Cultural competence is the provision of pertinent, effective, and culturally

responsive services to individuals of diverse backgrounds (Weaver, 1999). This competence can assist in bridging the gap between minority group disparities in healthcare settings, for example, and improve healthcare quality, patient contentment with care, and health outcomes (Shen, 2015). Cultural competence necessitates acting respectfully and effectively to address the needs of diverse populations, recognizing their worth and their uniqueness, and becoming aware of the cultural values of other groups (National Association of Social Workers [NASW], 2008). Understanding clients' cultures tend to enhance the practice and outcomes of social work; for this reason, participating in diverse practices and developing culturally competent practices and services is considered an integral part of social work (NASW, 2008).

Cultural competence in social work requires a combination of knowledge, skills, and values (Weaver, 1999). By having knowledge and skills to provide culturally competent care has been argued to be a challenge for practitioners, it is not conceptualized for practitioners (Kleinman & Benson, 2006). Tervalon and Murray-Gracia (1998) alluded that there is growing evidence of diverse groups represented in the U.S. can increase compromise in the socio/cultural inconsistencies among health care professionals and clients. Such disparities often emerge through health care provider's lack of understanding regarding their clients' health beliefs (Kleinman & Benson (2006) as well as racism, social class, age, and fear that impede effective care (Tervalon & Murray-Gracia (1998). To improve cultural competency in practice, Ortega and Coulborn Faller (2011) suggest having a sense of cultural humility an ability to acknowledge that one cannot fully be knowledgeable and competent in one's culture. Being culturally modest means creating an awareness of personal biases and engaging in a continuous reflection of those biases and perceptions about others (Tervalon & Murray-Gracia, 1998). For example, a culturally humble practitioner views clients as experts in their own cultures and experiences. It is with this approach that social workers can access clients humbly and minimize service provision barriers.

As such, social workers to provide culturally competent care for this vulnerable population, having knowledge on genocide, migration, resettlement, and socio/cultural factors that influence mental health and well-being of Rwandan refugees in the U.S. is important, however, working from a cultural humility perspective would be beneficial to this population.

Summary

Refugees have experienced extensive stressors from the turmoil in their homeland, and often, their mental health symptoms are exacerbated during resettlement because the process brings added stress (Li et al., 2016). The mental health of refugees remains important after resettlement because concerns are related to other factors that influence refugees' ability to thrive such as gaining employment or housing, learning the new language and culture, and navigating healthcare services (Cengiz et al., 2019; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; King et al., 2017). Because the risk and protective factors related to trauma differ according to socio-cultural contexts within the host country, emerging research suggests exploring stress-inducing socio-cultural differences between refugees' place of origin and host country to improve the resettlement process and support long-term acculturation (Aoun et al., 2018; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; Mahr & Campbell, 2016) There is no known research, to date, that has explored the mental health challenges faced by Rwandan refugee who settled in the U.S. The purpose of this qualitative descriptive phenomenological study was to explore the lived experiences associated with (genocide, migration, and resettlement), and socio/cultural factors influence Rwandan refugees' mental health.

Chapter Two:

Literature Review

In recent years, more than 50,000 refugees were admitted into the United States, some of whom were from Rwanda (UHNCR, 2019). Many Rwandans sought refuge in other countries following the Rwandan genocide in 1994, and some made their way to eventual resettlement in the U.S. Experiencing or witnessing the destruction of property, looting, sexual violence against men, women, and children, and murder that occurred during the genocide caused psychological distress in a majority of Rwandan people (Joseph, 2018; Ng & Harerimana, 2016). For example, several studies found PTSD, depression, and anxiety as some of the mental health concerns resulting from the genocide (Joseph, 2018; Munyandamutsa et al., 2012; Ng & Harerimana, 2016; Rieder & Elbert, 2013; Roth et al., 2014). Understanding mental health concerns are important because, for refugees who have experienced mass violence, traumatization is often an enduring, cumulative process that continues during resettlement (Banyanga et al., 2017). Research indicated that refugees experience post-migration challenges that exacerbate psychological concerns including cultural and linguistic challenges (Espinoza, 2016; Yako & Biswas, 2013), economic challenges (Li et al., 2016), the stigma of mental health and social isolation (Espinoza, 2016; Tingog et al., 2017), and difficulty adapting to different social roles (Bogic et al., 2015; Fazel et al., 2005; Fisher, 2013; Turrini et al., 2017).

Chapter 2 will synthesize relevant literature and introduce ecological systems theory, which is the theoretical framework that informed the research questions. Relevant literature was organized in categories, progressing from the Rwandan genocide towards its relationship with mental health, refugee status, resettlement, and mental health barriers and interventions. The conclusion of this chapter describes the gap in the literature and how the current study will attempt to address it.

History of the 1994 Rwandan Genocide

Rwanda is in central east Africa in the African Great Lake Region (the Republic of Rwanda, 2015). This region consists of the following nine African countries: Angola, the Central African Republic, Burundi, the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Kenya, Rwanda, Sudan, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia (African Center for the Constructive Resolution of Disputes [ACCORD], 2016). Rwanda is bordered by the DRC to the west, Tanzania to the east, Uganda to the north, and Burundi to the south (the Republic of Rwanda, 2015). Rwanda was colonized by Belgium and had three ethnic identities prior to the genocide: the Hutu (84%), Tutsi (15%), and Twa (1%) (Des Forges, 1999; the Republic of Rwanda, 2015).

On April 6, 1994, an airplane carrying the Rwandan President was shot down near the Rwandan capital city of Kigali while returning from peace negotiation for the Rwandan Patriotic Front (RPF), a Tutsi-led political party to included power (Human Rights Watch, 2003). The death of Rwanda's President was used as the initiation of massive killings. In point of fact, within just 36 hours of the President's assassination, violent attacks began (Eftekhari, 2004). Initiated by Hutu nationalists, military forces armed local young men and carried out the initial wave of violence in the capital, Kigali, then eventually spread throughout the surrounding rural communities. Systematic killings took place from house to house, focusing first on eliminating Tutsis (Des Forges, 1999) and the Hutu people who shared the physical features of Tutsis (Prunier, 1995). By mid-July 1994, the RPF finally gained control and, in doing so, killed thousands of Hutus (Eftekhari, 2004). Consequently, 2,000,000 Rwandans, one-quarter of the total population, most of whom were Hutu, fled the country due to fear of reprisal from the RPF (Eftekhari, 2004). The mass slaughters lasted for 100 days before the genocide was ended by the RPF (Human Rights Watch, 2003).

Psychological Effects of the 1994 Rwandan Genocide

In the aftermath of the genocide, Rwanda encountered the long, arduous process of rebuilding the country and attending to the Rwandan people, as many of the survivors had experienced major physical, emotional, and psychological effects from the genocide. Recognizing the influence that this event had on the Rwandan people is important to understand the state of mental health and healing within the Rwandan population. The following sections synthesize the literature related to the psychological effects of the Rwandan genocide.

Post-traumatic stress disorder. The 1994 Rwandan genocide left Rwandans to face multiple mental health concerns, with PTSD being one of the most reported mental health issues in the literature (Fodor et al., 2015; Munyandamutsa et al., 2012; Neugebauer et al., 2014; Schaal et al., 2014). Evidence suggested that the psychological consequences of genocide are profound and last a lifetime (Schaal et al., 2012). However, such effects of trauma may vary depending on one's length of exposure to the violence (Dyregroy et al., 2000). Furthermore, the influence of genocide disrupts basic psychological needs. For example, genocide survivors' way of viewing the world, sense of identity, and spiritual lifestyles are vulnerable to negative influence based on traumatic experiences. These experiences can influence a person's ability to regulate their emotions, and eventually, give rise to profound trauma symptoms (Staub et al., 2005). The myriad of complications relating to the Rwandan genocide provides validity to the pressing question as to how the mental health needs of this population can be met, almost a quarter of a century after the event has occurred.

Several studies have been conducted to examine the post-genocide psychological status of Rwandans. For example, one study among 3,000 children reported that 80% had experienced the death of a loved one, 70% saw killings, 35% witnessed other children's murders, 61% were threatened with being killed, and 90% thought they would die (Human Rights Watch, 2003).

Additionally, research conducted among Rwanda children and adolescents' post-genocide established that over 75% of children met the criteria for PTSD (Neugebauer et al., 2009; Dyregov et al., 2000).

Furthermore, ten years after the Rwandan genocide, Schaal and Elbert (2006) conducted a qualitative study among 68 orphaned survivors in Rwanda. Every child who participated in the study had been exposed to genocidal violence. Forty-one percent of the total sample had directly witnessed the murder of their parents. Additionally, using the diagnostic criteria of *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th edition (DSM-IV), the authors observed a prevalence of PTSD among Rwandan children and found an estimated 44% of the Rwandan children in the study had a PTSD diagnosis (Schaal & Elbert, 2006). In adults, 73% reported to have had relatives murdered during the 1994 genocide, and roughly 25% met the criteria for PTSD (Pham et al., 2004).

Hagengimana et al.'s (2003) study conducted in Rwanda in 2002 involved 100 Rwandan widows who had lost their husbands during the genocide and were not receiving mental health services. Using four different scales to determine the rates of anxiety attacks and symptoms of PTSD, the authors reported that 87% of those who had anxiety attacks at some point suffered from panic disorder, raising the rate of panic disorder for the entire sample to 35%. Furthermore, 40% of women continue to suffer from anxiety attacks (Hagengimana et al., 2003). Finally, to assess the level of trauma exposure and prevalence of PTSD, a multi-stage stratified cluster sampling method was used among 2,091 adults in Rwanda in 2002 who met study criteria. Using the PTSD Checklist-Civilian Version, the researchers found that 28% of the participants had PTSD symptoms, and the prevalence of PTSD was higher for women compared to men (Pham et al., 2004).

One study used a national representative sample to determine the prevalence of PTSD and major depressive episodes among the Rwandans (Munyadamusta et al., 2012). This study used a sample size estimation method before the study to administer a mini-international neuropsychiatric interview and medical outcome study (36 item short-form), which was translated into Kinyarwanda among 1,000 participants (Munyadamusta et al., 2012). Participants were predominantly female (58.9%) and between the age of 16 to 34 years. The survey indicated that 26.1% of the sample reported they met the diagnostic criteria of PTSD, while 22.7% reported major depression (Munyadamusta et al., 2012). One important factor is that not all diagnoses in this study were directly related to the Rwandan genocide because some participants were not born until after the event.

A community-based study was conducted in southern Rwanda among the genocide survivors (n=90), former prisoners accused of participating in the genocide (n=83), and their children to examine the level of trauma exposure, psychopathology, and risk factors for PTSD. It was reported that survivors predominantly witnessed violence during the genocide, while former prisoners were subjected to physical attacks. The findings of this study revealed that parents had lower rates of PTSD compared to their children (16% to 25%, respectively), suggesting the longterm psychological effects of the Rwandan genocide are evident within generations, albeit at different rates (Rieder & Elbert, 2013).

Depression. Depression is a common mental health concern that has been welldocumented among the Rwandan population (Bolton et al., 2002). Research indicates that when a community experiences trauma, it often infiltrates many aspects of society, and sometimes the children of trauma-sufferers may display mental health symptoms (Rieder & Elbert, 2013).

Five years after the Rwandan genocide, Bolton et al. (2002) conducted a quantitative community-based survey with a random sample of 368 adults in rural Rwanda to assess the

mental health of the survivors. The findings of this study revealed that the prevalence of depression was 16%, which was associated with functional impairment among participants. In another study conducted in Rwanda, this study examined the rates and risks of Prolonged Grief Disorder (PGD) among orphaned and widowed survivors 12 years after the genocide found that participants displaying symptoms such as feeling numb, shocked, astonished, and yearning for their deceased loved ones. Prolonged grief disorder was associated with depression and other mental health concerns (Schaal et al., 2012). Furthermore, there is evidence suggesting the comorbidity of PTSD and major depressive episodes (MDE; Eytan et al., 2015).

With a similar goal as Eytan et al. (2015), Brouneus (2010) conducted a study 14 years after the Rwandan genocide to examine long-term effects on mental health in 962 participants. The author reported that PTSD and depression co-occurred among 51% of the participants (Brouneus, 2010). Another study investigated the levels of trauma and the rates of mental health among the Rwandan widows (n=194) and orphans (n=206). It used the Depression Hopkins Symptoms Checklist to assess depression and other mental health issues. The results of the study suggested that widows in the study had severe mental health problems compared to orphans, and a substantial number of widows suffered from depression (48% versus 34% orphans; Schaal et al., 2011).

Additional evidence suggests that many Rwandan people have an increased prevalence of mental health problems due to their genocide exposure (de Jong et al., 2000; Rugema et al., 2015). Furthermore, experiencing sexual violence (as many people did) has been associated with an increased prevalence of mental health concerns. Research results estimated that rape survivors have higher rates of HIV infection and mental health concerns compared to the rest of the Rwandan population (African Rights, 2004; Hagengimana et al., 2003; Neugebauer et al., 2009; Zraly et., 2011). An estimated 250,000 Rwandan women were raped during the genocide,

infecting many with HIV/AIDS, and resulting in the birth of approximately 20,000 babies (Palmer & Firmin, 2011).

Rwandan Displacement

The Rwandan genocide caused a crisis of human displacement. An estimated two million people were refugees in countries neighboring Rwanda by late August 1994 (United Nations, 1996). Approximately 1.2 million people fled into the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), 580,000 to Tanzania, 270,000 to Burundi, 10,000 to Uganda, and some 1.5 million people were internally displaced (United Nations, 1996). It is not unusual for refugees to resettle in refugee camps prior to resettlement in a host country. The living conditions within the refugee camps, however, are often crowded, deplorable, and insecure (Wright & Moorthy, 2018). The refugees experienced difficult conditions in their first asylum refugee camps. Many people were faced with unhealthy and unsafe environments, chaos, the lack of water supply. Women were exposed to gender-based violence because women travel far to find water and inadequate humanitarian assistance, which could result in refugees spending years in refugee camps waiting for resettlement (Cultural Orientation Resource Center, 2014). According to Dryden-Peterson (2015), refugee children experienced limited access to schools and frequent disruptions. Language barriers within the school settings and low quality of education compound this, making it almost impossible for the refugee children to catch up with their counterparts in terms of their education. On-going migration, discriminatory laws, and spending time trying to learn a new language of instruction all contribute towards the late or no entry of refugee children in schools (Themner & Wallensteen, 2013).

Migration to the U.S.

Prior to migrating to the United States, refugees may have experienced traumatic conditions, such as war, rape, murder, and other forms of violence, in addition to spending long

periods in refugee camps, which may have lasted for years depending on the availability of humanitarian help (Ramsden & Taket, 2013). Resettlement is a process organized by the UNHCR, an agency established in 1950 by the United Nations General Assembly to protect the rights and well-being of refugees and displaced persons worldwide ([UNHCR, 2018a). The UNHCR protects refugees who cannot return to their home countries because their fundamental human rights are at risk. The process usually begins when refugees were transferred from their country to another country that agreed to give them permanent resident status (UNHCR, 2018a). The process of resettlement begins in refugee camps where refugees are housed prior to migrating to their destined host country (UNHCR, 2018a).

When refugees migrate to their host culture, they face potentially unique challenges such as adapting to a new language, constructing an identity in a new social context, and securing a new home. In the United States, refugees are resettled in over 190 communities across 50 states. The United States has a long and rich tradition of welcoming immigrants and refugees for resettlement. Since the 1990s, the United States has resettled refugees from the African Great Lakes Region (Boise et al., 2013). In 2018, 22,491 refugees were resettled in the United States, with Texas relocating the highest number of refugees of all states. These refugees were from various regions, including Africa, with the most significant number in 2018 from the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (UNHCR, 2019). Of the 22,491 refugees resettled, DRC accounted for 7,878, followed by Burma and Ukraine (UNHCR, 2019). In 2017, the United States resettled 53,716 refugees, 104 of whom were from Rwanda, with the largest percentage being from the Democratic Republic of Congo, which accounted for 17.5% (Refugee Processing Center, 2018). It is worth acknowledging that most refugees who were considered for resettlement from the DRC were ethnically diverse. These individuals have different backgrounds, including those with a history of persecution, such as the Hutu and the Tutsi (Cultural Orientation Resource Center, 2014). Whatever their ethnic identity, this process is never easy for refugees.

Resettlement Experiences for Rwandan Refugees

The United States resettlement programs have helped resettle thousands of refugees from various countries over the years. However, these programs have not been without their difficulties, including structural barriers such as language barriers, economic challenges, and socio-cultural barriers consisting of social isolation and differing social roles of refugees, and health challenges. The following sections summarize the literature related to the analysis and study of these various challenges.

Language barriers. When a refugee is resettled within the United States, the state provides them with temporary service assistance. However, service is available for the first eight months, after which the refugees are expected to become independent and self-sufficient. In a study on the outcomes of the United States refugee program, Capps et al. (2015) posited the main challenge to the success of the resettlement program is most refugees arrive with deficient levels of education and knowledge of the English language. As a result, the eight months provided to them is barely enough to get them on par with the English and educational skills needed to acquire meaningful employment. A lack of English proficiency, therefore, impedes the refugee's ability to obtain employment (Kiselev et al., 2020; Yako & Biswas, 2013), communicate with healthcare providers (Habeeb-Silva, 2016; Kiselev et al., 2020). The lack of proficiency in English hinders acculturation, as the individuals are unable to communicate with other individuals or pursue opportunities such as employment that would have improved the acculturation process (Kohlenberger et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2015). Many Rwandans are not English speakers, as their native language is Kinyarwanda, followed in prevalence by French and Kiswahili (the Republic of Rwanda, 2015).

Economic challenges. Most refugees were forced to wait months before they approved for resettlement in the United States. Warfa et al. (2012) stated that most refugees depleted their resources and savings during this waiting period, arriving in the United States in a financial crisis. Factors, such as financial security, are associated with the mental health of a resettled person. Many refugees may experience financial strains in their host countries, and finding appropriate employment may be difficult (Li et al., 2016). For example, the refugee's poverty situation is made worse by the difficulties experienced in obtaining employment. Among those that do, it is often impossible to get the same career level one had in their country of origin (Nsonwu et al., 2013). As a result, most of the employees end up being unemployed or underemployed, a situation that continually places a burden on their already troubled financial positions. The security of employment opportunities is highly dependent on the beliefs and attitudes of the host community towards the refugees living amongst them. According to Capps et al. (2015), some host employers recognize refugees as fellow working group individuals who require employment opportunities to sustain themselves. In such cases, the refugees have an easier time securing jobs as well as earning a little more than the average wage. However, limited work opportunities can worsen the mental health status of a person compared to those who have access to economic opportunities (Sangalang et al., 2019). Therefore, a lack of employment can expose a refugee person to depression and anxiety (Kim, 2016).

Social isolation. The process of displacement in which refugees are compelled to move into unfamiliar cultures presents significant social challenges for them. The Rwandan family social support system may be disrupted because of family separation or death and could lead to social isolation and the loss of familiar cultural ties and community. Such experiences are associated with anxiety amongst refugees (Tingog et al., 2017). A study of Iraqi refugees in Austria suggested that refugees who were separated from their families suffered from higher rates of PTSD and depression symptoms compared to those who remained with their families (Nickerson et al., 2010). Social isolation was linked to poor mental health outcomes for refugees (Li et al., 2016), social support within their familiar communities has been seen to improve psychological well-being (Joyce & Liamputtong, 2017; Schweitzer et al., 2006).

Social roles. The change in social roles in the host country is also associated with depression. A qualitative study exploring the experiences of refugees suggested that social roles are tough to alter and can severely impact psychological well-being (Colic-Peisker & Walker, 2003). For example, refugees from Africa who resettled in Australia explained that men losing their opportunities to become breadwinners in the family and having to depend on their female spouse financially impacted the relationship dynamics within the family, resulting in decreased well-being (Fisher, 2013). This evidence suggests that post-resettlement experiences are complex and multidimensional, meaning that every experience contributes significantly to the mental health status of refugees.

The refugee's ability to secure employment is associated with positive health outcomes. This is supported by a study in that author considered the effects of volunteering and employment on the health of African refugees who had settled within Western countries (Wood et al., 2019). The results of the study established that those refugees who managed to acquire employment or volunteer opportunities within their area of resettlement tended to have a greater sense of self-fulfillment and belonging, which are factors that contribute towards effective integration into a new community. By having and sustaining an employment opportunity, refugees can maintain an adequate standard of living that makes it possible to promote healthy behaviors by improving their healthcare access. Having employment opportunities places a refugee in a position where they can afford healthcare, thus significantly improving their health outcomes. Volunteering opportunities have considerable contributed to the promotion of community connections and a feeling of positive self-worth that helped to prepare the refugees for the eventual integration into the community as well as the workforce (Capps et al., 2015).

Hauck et al. (2014) established that most refugees were forced to work long hours or take on multiple jobs to afford basic amenities such as healthcare. By working long hours, refugees lack free time for their families, a situation that causes the development of familial difficulties (Phillimore, 2011). Extensive work hours can inhibit community integration as refugees do not have time to engage socially with other individuals in the community, further exacerbating their socially isolated state. Furthermore, language barriers aggravate a refugee's efforts in seeking healthcare services as they lack the skills necessary to communicate with healthcare providers.

Healthcare. As a result of the difficulties experienced in obtaining jobs, refugees often settle for low-paying part-time jobs. With this, social services reduce the aid for which they are eligible to receive, thereby increasing the refugees' financial troubles (Kiselev et al., 2020; Warfa et al., 2012). A limited flow of income affects a refugee's access to healthcare because other basic amenities, such as food and clothing, are considered more urgent than healthcare outside of extreme cases. When faced with a choice between buying food and going to therapy, most refugees would settle for putting food on the table and sidelining the need for mental health care services (Cox et al., 2012).

Psychological Conditions Faced by Rwandan Refugees

Apart from the physical and survival challenges, refugees face unique psychological issues that arise as a result of the traumatic experiences they encountered, which is frequently elevated post-resettlement. As noted earlier, refugees were faced with numerous challenges, including changes in culture. Compared to the predominant western way of describing mental

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

health with its assumption of a mind-body dichotomy, a refugee person is likely to describe somatic symptoms instead of psychic symptoms (Robertson et al., 2019). Due to the widespread stigma that is associated with mental health issues, it is common for a person to deny psychic symptoms. People obtain non-medical support for their suffering, as Somali refugees turn to God instead of professional mental health service providers for solutions (Robertson et al., 2019).

Li et al. (2016) highlighted that resettlement has adverse effects on the mental health of the displaced individual regardless of the traumatic histories that may have driven them from their countries of origin. Exposure to an entirely new physical environment and having to navigate through an unfamiliar cultural context requires refugees to endure emotional stabilization before the situation returns to normal. Koh et al. (2013) established that the removal of an individual's socio-cultural and interpersonal support system and the severing of family and community networks often brings up adverse psychological and social health outcomes among refugees. Fazel et al. (2005) posited that refugees have a higher prevalence of mental disorders as compared to individuals within non-war affected areas because of war and migration experiences.

Research has also indicated that refugee populations report a higher prevalence of psychological issues compared to the general population (Fazel et al., 2005; Li et al., 2016). Growing evidence suggests that refugees undergo stressful experiences during forced migration, and the resettlement process, making them vulnerable to mental health concerns, including higher rates of PTSD, depression, and anxiety symptoms (Bogic et al., 2015; Fazel et al., 2005; Steel et al., 2009; Turrini, 2017) aside from the trauma that forced their resettlement.

More specifically, there have been several systematic reviews reporting the prevalence of PTSD, depression, and anxiety symptoms among refugees in Western nations. One of those systematic reviews examined 17 studies describing that Afghan refugees reported higher rates of

depression from 55%-57% than in the general population (Alemi et al., 2014). Similarly, Robjant et al. (2009) included ten studies stating that out of the total population of asylum seekers and refugees resettled in Australia, the U.K., and the U.S., 59%–100% were reported to have depression, 27%–50% reported to have PTSD, and 77% reported to have anxiety issues. Furthermore, Slewa-Younan et al. (2015) included eight studies examining resettled Iraqi asylum seekers or refugees and found that depression rates among this population were at 43%, and the rate of PTSD was 25%. Similarly, Bronstein and Montgomery (2011) included 22 studies in their systematic review and reported an average rate of 18% for depression and 36% for PTSD. These comparatively elevated rates from recent studies, however, were inconsistent with an earlier study by Fazel et al. (2005), who reported lower rates of mental health issues among refugees (PTSD 9%, depression 5%, anxiety 4%). Fazel et al. (2005) suggested the lower rates in mental health issues drawn from their meta-analysis possibly relate to the fact that three-quarters of participants in the review were from Southeast Asian countries.

Financial instability, inability to provide basic needs for families, and the lack of employment are critical reasons cited by the refugees as reasons for their depression (Jancin, 2017). Other refugees confirmed that they experienced depression as a result of unfulfilled expectations and hopes regarding their employment and their children's education (Bryant et al., 2018). The constant worry over what their children would eat or how they would attend school were the self-reported explanations for depression. In other cases, a lack of proficiency in the English language contributed to depression as the refugees were worried about how to communicate with people within the U.S. (Fazel et al., 2012).

Additionally, some refugees migrate to the U.S. and leave their families behind in their country of origin either as a result of the separation during the migration process or as a personal decision to establish themselves before going back for them (Phillimore, 2011). The separation

that arises from this brings about anxiety and stress as they have to cope with the loss of both the immediate and extended family. In addition, most countries of origin for the refugees are usually in a state of unrest, implying that their families are subjected to dangerous environments. Among some Rwandans, the whereabouts and well-being of loved ones were often unknown for some time and, in some cases, even after decades, remains so. Anxiety occurs during resettlement; therefore, fear arises because family members are left behind, causing concern for their safety (Nsonwu et al., 2013). Rwandan refugees who resettled in the U.S. may experience the same challenges and mental health issues as those reported in the literature; however, no research has been conducted to support this assertion. As such, the current study aims to discover whether Rwandan refugees' mental health experiences differentiate from what is known about other resettled refugees.

Rwandan Refugee Experiences of Mental Health Care

Refugees can receive health assistance in their host country, including in the U.S. Specifically, the Office of Refugees Resettlement in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has policies in place to ensure the health and well-being of refugees' post-resettlement (Office of Refugee Resettlement, 2015). For example, refugees are eligible for Refugee Medical Assistance (RMA) for eight months upon arriving in the U.S., as well as Medicaid or the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), which is available for children who qualify (Office of Refugee Resettlement, 2015). Soon after the RMA expires, most refugees can apply for health insurance through the marketplace of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA; Office of Refugee Resettlement, 2015).

Further evidence suggests that some refugees remain uninsured due to a lack of knowledge about enrolling in the ACA. Nevertheless, the ACA may not be sufficient to cover the refugees' health conditions (Morris et al., 2009; Yun et al., 2012). In a mixed-method study

sampling of 56 Africans from 14 different countries (including Rwanda's Great Lakes region), researchers gathered data regarding the refugees' health needs and the barriers they encountered as they resettled in the state of Oregon. Participants shared that, in light of economic struggles to meet their basic needs, healthcare became a lower priority for them (Boise et al., 2013). Despite the partial availability of ACA, barriers remain among the refugee population in the U.S., including, but not limited to, stigma, lack of awareness, and cultural/linguistic challenges (Espinoza, 2016). There is minimal information about Rwandan refugee experiences of mental health care in the U.S., which is another gap in the literature that the current study aims to fill.

Stigma. The stigma associated with mental illness can be defined as negative attitudes or perceptions of being flawed due to personal traits seen as socially unacceptable (Sartorius, 2007). Stigma can be public, meaning individuals may have negative perceptions toward individuals with mental illness (Vogel et al., 2006). The mental health stigma is generally one of the most cited obstacles among refugees seeking mental healthcare (Boise et al., 2013), marginal data has been documented on the lived experiences of the Rwandan refugees in the U.S. As noted, mental health issues are stigmatized in the Rwandan culture, and that likely reduces help-seeking behaviors.

Moreover, it has been argued that there are cultural differences that exist in stigmarelated attitudes and behaviors, depending on one's conceptions of healthy and unhealthy behaviors (Shannon et al., 2015). Stigmatization is harmful as it often leads to discrimination, stereotyping, and prejudice toward persons seeking mental healthcare (Sartorius, 2007; Vogel et al., 2006). As a result, many people avoid seeking psychological care to avoid the consequences of public stigma. In one qualitative study that used focus groups with 111 refugees from Burma, Bhutan, Somalia, and Ethiopia to explore the refugees' perceptions in discussing mental health concerns, the participants shared that it was difficult to discuss mental health issues because of the fear of being labeled as "crazy" (Shannon et al., 2015).

Additionally, stigma can also exist within families, such that if an individual that attains psychological services, their family may shun him or her (Piwowarczyk, Bishop, Yusuf, Mudymba, & Raj, 2014). Based on the existing literature, it seems that the Rwandan genocide survivors share a collective experience with other refugees in their sense of stigmatization toward mental illness and mental health services.

Culture. According to Kleinman (2006), culture is an embodiment of meanings through psychological responses, evolving relationships, religious beliefs, values, explanations, attitudes, and accumulated experiences. These factors may vary based on race, ethnicity, social class, sex, and generation, and these underlying tenets of cultures are behind every individual's determining factors towards illness, attribution of an illness, and help-seeking behaviors (Kleinman, 2004). Additionally, unlike individualistic culture such as the United States, collective cultures like East African, emphasize interconnection and social conformity with each other and every person is essentially interrelated in a large social group consequently coping approaches also vary based on these differences (Mojaverian et al., 2013; Schlaudt et al., 2020). For example, cultural differences have been noted to have different implications for mental health interpretation. In Chinese culture, individuals may perceive mental health concerns such as depression as worry and uncontrolled anger, while Western culture would consider symptoms as depression (Kleinman, 1997), suggesting that culture influences people's understanding and expression of illness. Concerning migration, Morris et al. (2009) established that factors such as misunderstanding of Western medicine, beliefs regarding preventative care, in addition to stigma associated with mental health, prevented some refugees from seeking healthcare services. Hauck and colleagues(2014) indicated that some cultures are less receptive to care as they have been

accustomed to visit the hospital only when they were feeling sick. In this case, individuals would not be open to carrying out procedures such as therapy sessions as they consider it a waste of money and will not make an appointment to visit a doctor when they are not physically sick (Hauck et al., 2014).

Specifically, among resettled African refugees, disclosing personal information to someone from a different culture is difficult, frowned upon, and out of alignment with the traditional practices (Piwowarczyk et al., 2014). In a qualitative study using focus groups about Congolese and Somali beliefs about mental health services, Piwowarczyk et al. (2014) discovered that participants in the study often turned to family members, friends, and religious leaders for help first, as mental health services were not routinely sought in their culture. In those same circles, prayer and waiting for God to work was, highlighted as a healthy way of coping and accepting trauma in one's life (Piwowarczyk et al., 2014).

Language and communication. The majority of mental health service information in the U.S. is in English, which may not be understood by refugees (Boise et al., 2013). Certainly, translating services may be available, but often, the initial points of contact for these organizations may not speak their language of origin (Morris et al., 2009). This communication barrier between the healthcare provider and the patient may seriously impede the healthcare provider from offering adequate services. Worabo et al. (2016) posited that because of the language differences, refugee patients lack the necessary vocabulary to describe their concerns and medical history, a situation that makes it difficult for healthcare providers to offer appropriate diagnosis and treatment.

The problem is heightened for sensitive mental health concerns, such as the complex trauma experienced by Rwandans. When a third-party interpreter is involved, patients are most likely to withhold some information for fear of judgment and ridicule. This situation results in a

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

less adequate quality of care. Refugees admitted to having missed appointments with healthcare personnel or left a health problem untreated as a result of a lack of understanding and comprehension of the English language (Worabo et al., 2016). The patients who expressed hesitation in making use of interpreters to communicate with the healthcare providers as these providers reported they did not make full use of the assigned professional interpreters as a result of their limited availability and the inconvenience of using these services (Fazel et al., 2005).

Lack of awareness. Another fundamental barrier regarding mental health services among refugees is that they are unfamiliar with the services available to them. Specifically, refugees who are being acclimated to their host countries may be unaware of their mental health problems and the services their communities provide (Yun et al., 2012). As previously mentioned, refugee people often experience illiteracy around mental health issues or are discriminated against, stigmatized, and shunned for pursuing them (Erinkveld, 2016). Therefore, there is a need to increase educational programs on mental healthcare among Rwandans resettled in the U.S. to improve their familiarity with and attitudes toward such services.

Mental Health Intervention for Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.

Refugees develop different coping mechanisms as they adapt to their new host countries. In one study, the refugees' coping mechanisms for torture were considered with a specific emphasis on religious behaviors (Leaman & Gee, 2012). Leaman and Gee (2012) reported that one main form of torture, sexual torture, was highly associated ($\beta = 0.25$, t (128) = 2.64, p < .05). In such cases, informal religious coping habits (e.g., trauma is a punishment from God for wrongdoing) were found to be used by refugees with symptoms of both depression and posttraumatic stress disorder. Refugees made use of private religious habits as a coping mechanism for torture experiences that were more mental than physical (Leaman & Gee, 2012). Spirituality, religion, and income-earning activities were identified as coping mechanisms applied by refugees in a study within a settlement of Liberian refugees (Dako-Gyeke & Adu, 2015). In this study, the majority of the participants reported taking part in religious activities such as prayer, as this was perceived as a strategy that would strengthen them to face their current situations. Others opted to engage in income-earning activities such as selling purified water and vending food to prevent themselves from being idle and worrying about issues (Dako-Gyeke & Adu, 2015).

When it comes to making mental healthcare accessible, APA has guidelines for competent multicultural care (2017). Unfortunately, while competent multicultural interventions are an ethical mandate, historically, mental health interventions in the U.S. have focused primarily on the therapeutic needs of the upper- and middle-class Americans, leading to an increased reliance on more individualistic, Westernized paradigms (Griner & Smith, 2006). Despite such a heavily Westernized framework, interventions continue to be developed and tested with diverse populations.

During a systematic review of therapeutic interventions in resettlement contexts, about 22 studies were selected for review, but only 12 of these studies provided descriptions of how cultures informed the implementation of the interventions (Murray et al., 2010). Scholars continually suggest a need for clinical professionals to emphasize the meaning that is ascribed to the lived experiences of refugees and immigrants faced with distress and trauma (Bartholomew et al., 2015). Despite such recommendations, a narrative review of mental health interventions for refugee children states that refugee interventions are still limited (Fazel, 2018).

While there are mental health interventions for refugee communities, refugee faces unique traumas that vary based on levels of trauma exposure to add to resettlement stressors and create multifaceted challenges worth considering (Goodkind et al., 2014). Again, refugees struggle to engage productively with any existing mental health resources, at least in part, due to the stigmatization associated with seeking mental health treatment (Shannon et al., 2015). While there is limited intervention research with Rwandan refugees, numerous studies have suggested that despite the stigma around mental health services, promising treatments are being used specifically for treating refugee populations. The best evidence for reducing mental health issues in refugees can be found for trauma-focused interventions, such as narrative exposure therapy (NET; Gwozdziewycz & Mehl-Madrona, 2013; McPherson, 2012; Neuner et al., 2004), interpersonal therapy (IPT; Meffert et al., 2014), support groups (Ley, 2006; Mitschke et al., 2016), and eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR; Acarturk et al., 2015; Ament-Lemke, 2018; Ter Hiede et al., 2011). These interventions have been used with increasing regularity among the refugee community discovered to be helpful for individuals who underwent exceptionally traumatic experiences.

A recent study conducted among 72 refugees to determine the safety and efficacy of EMDR among refugee adults with PTSD. Participants were assigned a 12-hour EMDR session, where the Harvard Trauma Questionnaire was used as a measure. The study's findings suggested that EMDR was effective; however, a limited number of EMDR sessions may not reduce the PTSD symptoms (Ter Heide et al., 2016).

Evidence suggests that NET and IPT (Meffert et al., 2014) are effective for reducing PTSD symptoms among refugees, as are support groups in reducing resettlement stress (Ley, 2006; Mitschke et al., 2016). Additionally, NET's ability to be productive while remaining affordable, teachable, time-efficient, and informal adds to its attractiveness in the mental health field (Goodkind et al., 2014). While there are strengths evident with these interventions, it is essential to note that refugees are exposed to prolonged trauma experiences, and it is suggested that their symptoms of PTSD may increase when these individuals are exposed to new stressors during resettlement (Kirmayer et al., 2007).

There is a need for interventions that focus on the different stages of refugee migration: before resettlement, during resettlement, and post-resettlement, especially as it could prove beneficial to their mental health. Focusing on refugees' experiences more comprehensively is beneficial in identifying interventions that are culturally sensitive but also target their needs (Purgato et al., 2017). However, evidence examining holistic experiences for the refugee populations is limited. It also seems that the goals of NET, IPT, and support groups have been to reduce specific mental health concerns, suggesting that these interventions are not as comprehensive in assessing and treating each stage of migration risks and challenges (Kirmayer et al., 2007).

Critique of the Studies

Kleinman (1997) suggested that culture has a critical impact on determining how a person interprets their health symptoms, and therefore, their health concerns should be understood from a cultural, individual, and interpersonal level as earlier mentioned. However, studies reviewed above regarding Rwanda and mental health employed individualistic Western diagnostic methods. The adequacy or the psychometric properties of an instrument in one culture may not necessarily guarantee consistency and validity among people from another culture, despite the translation (Canino & Alegria, 2008). For the instrument to show adequate reliability and validity, it requires comprehensive adaptations to capture the same phenomena in populations and cultures different from the original population (Canino & Alegria, 2008) and for all of the studies reviewed in this section that is not the case. Most of the studies used surveys and Western criteria to examine mental illness and examined Western psychological approaches for reducing PTSD. Most research studies utilized measures that were not validated for the Rwandan population. While the results clarify the psychological effects experienced by survivors and developing interventions, there is controversy associated with labeling Rwandan mental health issues using the Western medical model, as it may not be sufficient for understanding the Rwandan refugees (Ray, 2008). Furthermore, Rwandan ideas of sickness and healing are not the same as Western biomedical models and do not easily map onto them (Ray, 2008). As previously mentioned, for example, their local perceptions of mental health, and suffering are often not represented in the narratives of another culture. In other words, sickness is an experience that is culturally shaped and an integral part of a social system suggesting that emotions and behaviors are guided by culture and, in turn, culturally constructed (Kleinman et al., 1978; Otake, 2018). Finally, Western diagnoses have been questioned due to the emphasis on individual symptoms rather than collective suffering, which is arguably more consistent with Rwandan culture (Ray, 2008).

In keeping with this perspective, it is vital to capture the interpretation of mental health as expressed within diverse populations such as Rwandans. For example, Scorza et al. (2017) conducted a study with the aim of determining the culturally appropriate protective factors relevant to reducing mental health concerns among 367 Rwandan youth. To do so, the authors used locally derived constructs, which were then combined with an existing scale. The authors of the study identified the factor structure of the expanded range using exploratory factor analysis. The scale displayed excellent internal consistency reliability, suggesting that it was appropriate for measuring the protective factors: perseverance, sense of self-worth, self-efficacy, and social interactions related to preventing mental health issues among the Rwandan youth (Scorza et al., 2017). Because it is important to identify culturally appropriate measures for developing cross-cultural interventions, more evidence with regards to mental health instruments is needed to develop interventions for Rwandan communities in the U.S. This is especially

important as evidence indicate that the 1994 Rwandan genocide survivors continue to suffer prolong psychological concerns such as PTSD (Banyanga et al., 2017; Eytan et al., 2015) and these concerns are often reported to transfer from a different generation (Rieder & Elbert, 2013), and for refugees who have endured different challenging experiences, new stressors post resettlement exacerbated their mental health concerns (Li et al., 2016). Therefore, before culturally appropriate mental health interventions can be developed for the Rwandan refugee population in the U.S., more needs to be known about the social-cultural factors that influence their mental health and well-being in addition to their lived experiences associated with genocide, migration, resettlement in the U.S., and the effects of those experiences on mental health need to be explored.

Theoretical Framework

The current study was framed using Bronfenbrenner's (1981) ecological systems theory. According to ecological systems theory, multiple factors, personal, situational, and sociocultural, interact to shape our life experiences (Eriksson et al., 2018). Given that the Rwandan genocide occurred 26 years ago, research indicates that this population continued to suffer from the psychological consequences_(Neugebauer et al., 2014). Therefore, it is essential to understand these experiences using a framework that underscores the different interrelated factors that have shaped Rwandan refugees' experiences prior to migration and post-migration. Furthermore, the ecological theory posits that individual development occurs within the context of interrelated systems that form the environment (Drozdek, 2015). These systems include the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem. These systems of ecological systems theories are relevant to this study as they consider the multiple variables and transitions that refugees encounter during their displacement. **Microsystem.** A microsystem comprises relationships between the individual and factors of the immediate environment such as family, peers, school, jobs, neighborhood housing, food, beliefs, and others that consistently interact with the individual (Bronfenbrenner, 1983, Drozdek, 2015). Bronfenbrenner (1979) defined microsystems as relationships between an individual and their surrounding environment, which includes environmental school, a neighborhood, the home, and other relevant environmental factors, such as the immediate family. A microsystem is considered as a relationship, or bond, between the immediate individuals within their microsystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Drozdek, 2015). These environmental bonds lead to direct influences based upon these interactions. In terms of a refugee, the surrounding microsystem is considered a vital component that can guide their experiences after their traumatic experiences (Drumm et al., 2004). Microsystems are relevant to this study as they consider an individual's different life trajectories, persona, beliefs, job, housing, and school (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). These are impactful as they are bonded relationships that may impact their ability to respond to their experiences related to their refugee status (Drumm et al., 2004).

Mesosystem. The mesosystem includes individuals group membership such as a church and community support groups and how all these factors interact together (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Drozdek, 2015). Mesosystems are considered vital as they can impact the relationship within the microsystem and inhibit the individual ability for positive progress with their microsystem supports (Bronfenbrenner,1979). Mesosystem was necessary for this study as it considers other elements within refugee's lives, such as their families and communities (e.g., churches) that may assist refugees (e.g., providing support).

Exosystem. This system comprises the relationships to the outside world that an individual is not directly involved within, such as displacement due to war or natural disasters (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Drozdek, 2015). The exosystem may also include relationships between

the individual and society, including mass media and public relations (Bronfenbrenner & Evans, 2000; Drozdek, 2015). For example, for refugees, the social relationship within the exosystem may result from displacement, the family separation that can impact their well-being. As such, the exosystem is important to consider when examining refugees as it may impact their overall well-being. Exosystem is relevant to this study as it considers the relationship that a refugee has with their external world. This includes the relationships that a refugee may have with their external world (e.g., the media) in light of displacement or family separation (Esses et al., 2013). This relationship can be negative or positive and have lasting results in their life.

Macrosystem. This system represents the relationships between the individual and culture, laws, regulations, belief systems, and ideologies (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Drozdek, 2015). These include the interaction between culture and belief systems that may guide Rwandan refugees' mental health towards positive or adverse effects. Additionally, the belief systems which exist within the macrosystem of this theory are noted to be elements that may guide coping strategies for refugees in light of their displacement (Brune et al., 2002). In the macrosystem, the relationships that an individual has within their unique socio-culture system impacts their progression within their host communities in the U.S. This includes how Rwandan refugees belief systems may guide their positivity towards a displacement, or towards contextualizing their situation within their ideological belief system (Brune et al., 2002). In terms of help-seeking behaviors, cultural attitudes around mental health may have a significant influence on refugee's access to mental health care (Shannon et al., 2015).

Chronosystem. This system consists of all the systems looking at the different life transitions that significantly influence a person as a whole (e.g., displacement, resettlement for a refugee person) (Bronfenbrenner & Ceci,1994). This is relevant to this study because it informs how we look at different transitions that refugees endure during and after their displacement.

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

This can include the transition from their original home, to refugee specific camps, and transitions to the host countries. These transitions are often considered contributors to the mental health of refugees due to the traumatic nature of displacement events (Hall & Olff, 2016; Silove et al., 2017). Chronosystems are essential to consider as it contextualizes the transitions that an individual can experience during their refugee experiences. These experiences include traumatic events that are associated with these displacement events and resettlement experiences (Hall & Olff, 2016; Silove et al., 2017).

The internal and external influences are bidirectional, where conflict or change in one system causes conflict or change in other systems (Drozdek, 2015). In other words, factors, such as separation from family and entering foreign territory with different belief systems, may intensify the psychological distress experienced from living in a conflict-affected area. Ecological systems theory helped guide this study by lending insight into how the mental health and well-being of Rwandan refugees are influenced by events that occurred prior to migration and during resettlement. Specifically, ecological systems theory underscores the effects of exposure to multiple events and changes (e.g., trauma, leaving one's place of origin, transitioning into new cultures) on refugees' mental health (Eriksson et al., 2018). Furthermore, interview questions were influenced by this theory to increase insight into the different systems that influence mental health experiences in Rwandan refugees. Finally, ecological systems theory informs the significance of the current study because it emphasizes the importance of using individual and contextual information to tailor mental health interventions for Rwandan refugees.

Conclusion

The review of the literature highlighted studies relating to the historical context and psychological impacts of the 1994 Rwandan genocide. Mental health barriers in the U.S. were discussed, along with refugees' experiences related to mental health. The results of the review

found that there is a plethora of literature regarding the psychological consequences of the Rwandan genocide and general refugee resettlement in the U.S.; however, limited research exists regarding the lived experiences of Rwandans resettled in the U.S. Furthermore, research encompassing effective mental health services for this population is limited. The review of literature also suggested that the majority of studies conducted post-genocide have been conducted using a Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition, which is a Western medical perspective (Hagengimana et al., 2003; Rieder & Elbert, 2013; Schaal & Elbert, 2006, Schaal et al., 2011; Schaal et al., 2012). Therefore, any resulting diagnosis of mental health symptoms is interpreted from a Western framework, which may help explain shortcomings in help-seeking and effective service delivery among diverse populations in the U.S. This suggests a need for more research grounded within the Rwandan context in order to develop culturally relevant interventions. Finally, refugees received healthcare benefits post-resettlement, multiple barriers inhibit refugees from obtaining the needed services quickly, affordably, and effectively. The evidence used for the review to address the information relating to the phenomenon under study included the complexities posed by the mental health challenges experienced by refugees; however, this group is not homogenous. Even though the information is pertinent for understanding the general experiences of refugees, it does not support a better understanding of the specific experiences faced by Rwandans resettled in the U.S. because all refugees have unique mental health challenges and socio-cultural encounters. To fill the gap in the existing literature, this dissertation study utilized a descriptive phenomenological approach, a method that provided a descriptive understanding of the participants' experiences.

Chapter Three:

Methodology

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive phenomenology dissertation was to explore the lived experiences associated with (genocide, migration, resettlement) and sociocultural factors that influenced Rwandan refugees' mental health and well-being in the U.S. A qualitative methodology, a phenomenological approach, was chosen to explore these experiences. This section provides a discussion regarding the selected research design and approach, the population and sampling strategy, data collection, and data analysis techniques. The strategies used to maintain the trustworthiness of the study are provided in this section. To understand the lived experiences of trauma in Rwandan refugees resettled in the U.S., interview questions were shaped by the ecological systems theory to answer the following research questions:

- RQ1. How do individuals from Rwanda describe their lived experiences of trauma associated with becoming a refugee and resettling in the U.S.?
- RQ2. How do Rwandan refugees perceive the mental health services offered to refugees in the U.S.?
- RQ3. What are the socio-cultural aspects of resettlement (i.e., culture, linguistic, economic, and social challenges) in the U.S. that influence Rwandan refugee well-being?

Instrumentation

In qualitative research, the researcher is the primary instrument, which requires the researcher to engage in reflexivity by acknowledging personal perspectives as a potential bias (Creswell, 2013). In this study, the learner was the primary researcher and the sole interviewer. Although the researcher is not Rwandan, the researcher is an African immigrant woman in the Ph.D. program at The University of Texas at Arlington with a research interest on immigrants'

and refugees' lived experiences. The researcher has a master's degree in social work. Even though the researcher is not from Rwanda and does not share the genocide experience, she brings a unique perspective to the study because she is an immigrant woman from African who believes her background was valuable when connecting with participants.

Additionally, the researcher can comprehend some Kinyarwanda words, speaks, and writes Swahili, which is some of the languages spoken by the Rwandan people. Furthermore, the researcher has two year of experience volunteering among Rwandan immigrants and refugees in the U.S. Participants were informed that the researcher had volunteered with Rwandan immigrants during their initial conversations, and the researcher believes it created some level of trust between her and the participants. The researcher acknowledges that her previous encounter with refugees from Rwandan could facilitate bias during data collection and analysis. To ensure bias was minimized, the researcher journaled her thoughts and feelings throughout, as discussed in the analysis section. The researcher spoke with experts as much as needed to debrief and discuss her own biases. The researcher adhered to the interview guide to ensure impartiality during the interview process. The researcher approached this study from an etic or outsider perspective (Morris et al., 1999).

Research Design

A qualitative research design was selected because it allows for an in-depth exploration of a phenomenon (Creswell, 2013; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Furthermore, a qualitative approach is appropriate for researchers interested in understanding how people describe their experiences, how they construct their realities, and what meanings they assign to their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The researcher approached this research study from a constructivist position with the underlying assumption that reality is socially constructed and context-driven and that multiple realities exist for the phenomena being studied (Kivunja & Kuyini, 2017). Furthermore, this research was conducted to include the viewpoint that interaction between the researcher and participants that was essential to understanding their lived experiences (Kiyunja & Kuyini, 2017).

The review of the literature provided an understanding that little evidence regarding the mental health experiences of Rwandan refugees existed in the body of knowledge. In other words, little has been conceptualized or described, especially in understanding and uncovering the lived experiences associated with (genocide, migration, resettlement) and socio/cultural factors that influence their mental health and well-being of Rwandan refugees in the U.S. To capture these experiences, a descriptive phenomenological analytic (DPA) approach was chosen because it is used when little is known about a phenomenon. Additionally, DPA aims to describe, as opposed to interpret or explain, the lived experiences of trauma in Rwandan refugees who resettled in the U.S. (Giorgi, 2009).

Sampling and Recruitment Methods

Phenomenological research is less concerned about the number of participants interviewed and more interested in how often a phenomenon is described by participants. As such, a researcher can interview five or more participants (Giorgi, 2009). The University of Texas provided the approval to conduct this research at Arlington (UTA) Institutional Review Board (IRB) in mid-June 2019. Following the approval, thirteen participants (ten men and three women) were recruited, which aligns with DPA's sample size. This sample also enabled the researcher to understand the phenomenon of interest more in-depth. The researcher used snowball, purposive sampling techniques to recruit participants. It has been suggested that snowball sampling is a feasible sampling method, primarily when recruiting hard to reach populations such as refugees (Sulaiman-Hill & Thompson, 2011). Snowball sampling is a method where participants recruit others from within their social groups. The researcher developed a volunteer relationship with Project Start Refugee in Dallas, an agency that serves individuals from all over the world, including those from Rwanda. However, the researcher did not belong to the Rwandan social network; therefore, using a snowball sampling technique was paramount. Since the researcher established a volunteering relationship with Project Start, the agency was supportive in partnering with the researcher in allowing the researcher to use the agency as a recruitment site. The agency leader Leo at Project Start provided a letter of support indicating that he was willing to distribute a researcher's recruitment script at the agency. On July 23_{rd} of 2019, after IRB approval, the researcher met with Leo to explain his role and responsibility in the study. Leo's responsibility was to give out the IRB approved description of the study, which had the researcher's contact. This short description was distributed to refugees from day to day starting July 24_{th}. 2019. Following this, refugees from Rwandan that developed an interest voluntarily called the researcher to learn more about the study.

Participants

Through the assistance of Leo in distributing the study script, the researcher received correspondence from a participant that called her with interest in learning about the study. The researcher explained the nature of the study more in-depth and screened to ensure they met the inclusion criteria as follows: 1) that the individual self-identified as Rwandan, 2) is resettled in the DFW, 3) is 18 years old or older, 4) can speak and read English, and 5) is associated with Project Start Refugees. The first participant that contacted the researcher with interest in learning more about the study knew the researcher through her volunteer relationship with Project Start. When the researcher spoke to the potential participant through a phone conversation, the participant exhibited an interest in participating in the study. The researcher scheduled a face-to-face interview with that individual who then connected the researcher to seven more participants through snowball sampling. In total, the researcher obtained eight participants recruited (six men

and two women) from DFW between July 2019 and September 2019. These interviews were conducted in English using a face-to-face format. The researcher noted that a majority of the participants willing to participate in the interviews were men. Women who were recruited in the study would want to learn more about the study; however, they would decline in the initial interview expressing that the topic was too sensitive for them or that they did not want to revisit any memories related to the 1994 Rwanda genocide. Additionally, there were several participants that were willing to be interviewed; however, most of them did not speak English; therefore, they were excluded from the study as they did not meet the study's inclusion criteria. The researcher noted that the use of snowball sampling included referrals that resided outside DFW; thus, the researcher decided to expand the data collection to the U.S. and include phone interviews to gather additional data because the researcher had not reached saturation with the participants interviewed in the DFW area. To ensure compliance with UTA's IRB as well as the researcher did not include telephone interviews as part of the data collection, the researcher modified the IRB protocol and resubmitted it to receive approval to interview participants via phone. The IRB modifications were approved, and the researcher received the approval letter in September 2019. The thirteen participants, the researcher, recruited an additional five participants (four men and one woman) who had resettled in the different midwestern and southeastern states. As earlier stated, some of the participants the researcher had interview face-to-face would often refer her to individuals who lived outside the DFW. Two participants specifically that the researcher interviewed in the DFW area were passionate about spreading the word regarding the research, and both wanted to reach as many people as possible. Therefore, through their social networks, the researcher was able to find more participants. It was common for the researcher to receive phone calls from participants stating that they were informed about the study she was conducting. Based on these initial calls, the researcher would explain the study in detail to ensure potential participants understood the research from her perspective. Once the researcher had established a common understanding with the potential participants, she would request those participants to schedule a practical time for the researcher to call them for the initial interview. Using a similar sampling method, the researcher interviewed more participants and reached saturation with thirteen individuals. The researcher stopped recruitment by the end of October 2019. Saturation is a qualitative criterion for concluding recruitment when similar information continues to emerge in the data (Saunders et al., 2018).

Additionally, the researcher used an interview guide that served as a tool to ensure that the interview questions were all asked and delivered in the same structure and choice of words. Interview questions were informed by the ecological systems framework to gain insight into the different systems that influence the mental health experiences of Rwandan refugees (Eriksson et al., 2018). In phenomenological research, it is important to start by asking general questions (Giorgi, 2009). During the initial conversations, the researcher asked general questions pertaining to the study where she asked participants to tell her about their life, where they had lived prior to the U.S., and how they would describe their experiences if they were in Rwanda in 1994. Building on these conversations, the researcher moved on to the research questions following a pre-prepared interview guide, where participants explored and shared their experiences. The researcher utilized semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions because the design was adequately flexible to allow follow-up questions and probes to obtain more information from the participants (Schmied et al., 2011) and this technique was also consistent with DPA (Giorgi 2009), These semi-structured, open-ended questions were developed such that participants discussed experiences related to each ecological system.

Ethics

Before every interview, the participants signed informed consent or provided verbal consent if the interview was conducted via the phone. Participants also completed a demographic questionnaire. All interviews were audio-recorded and conducted in a private setting with no distractions. Those interviewed through the phone were recorded while on speakerphone. The researcher took detailed notes during the phone interview process to ensure all details were captured and not missed during the phone interview. Interviews lasted between 45 and 80 minutes.

To ensure confidentiality was maintained, each participant provided the researcher with a pseudonym to protect the participant's rights and avoid using personal identification such as their personal names. Pseudonyms were utilized during the interview conversation in addition to where the researcher reported the finding later in chapter four results. Additionally, the researcher was cautious in making sure that participants understood the confidentiality processes of the interviews prior to the interview process. The researcher went into detail about how their information would be protected. Reading the consent form to participants or having them read the form and ask questions before the interview achieved this part of the process. Participants were also informed about the voluntary nature of the study. Every participant was given a chance to ask questions before every interview. Clarification was provided to each participant that needed it. Participants were reminded that participation in the study was voluntary, and their information was anonymous outside of the interview. Participants were also reminded about the decision to withdraw from the interview with no consequences for them. After the interview, participants were provided with a list of free counseling services should any of them need to seek care. Participants received a \$10 Walmart gift card after the interview. Once the data collection was completed, ten audio recordings were professionally transcribed using rev.com, a secure

transcription company. The researcher created an account with this company, where she uploaded the audio files to be transcribed verbatim. To access the completed transcribed data, she had to login to her personalized account. Within the site, there are options to listen to audio files while following along with each transcript. The researcher was able to utilize these features during her data analysis. Also, the researcher transcribed three interviews that could not be completed by rev.com, which allowed her to immerse herself in the data. Any identifiable information in the transcripts was deleted. All audio files were kept on an encrypted, passwordprotected computer.

Data Analysis

Once all transcripts were transcribed, they were uploaded to atlas.ti eight, a qualitative data analysis software package. The software was helpful in organizing, examining, and coding the data. As suggested by Colaizzi (1978), the researcher first read through the transcripts several times to familiarize herself with the data. She listened to the audio three times while reading through the transcript to make sure it was transcribed accurately. As the researcher listened and read, she took notes, which helped her gain a sense of the data. Once the researcher completed this step, she moved on to the second step, where she read and extracted relevant statements, phrases, and sentences that provided an understanding of the lived experiences of trauma associated with becoming a refugee and resettlement in the U.S. (Colaizzi, 1978).

The researcher was able to identify related patterns by rereading the information once more. This process enabled the researcher to develop codes/sentences within the data by lumping important statements together and to gain an understanding of the participant's experience. Once the researcher had extracted phrases and codes, she began to engage in dialogues with individuals who are experts in the area, as well as those that are familiar with Rwandan culture. This process provided clarity in the researcher's own understanding of the data and rigor of the study. In the third step, Colaizzi (1978) suggests formulating meaning from the significant statements. This process was iterative. The researcher went back to the data as she kept formulating meaning, synthesized, and extracted codes. This resulted in the researcher's interpretation consistent with Colaizzi's fourth step (Colaizzi, 1978). Codes, phrases, and statements were grouped to form specific themes. In the fifth step, the researcher began to integrate all the ideas into an exhaustive description that best represented the participants' experiences.

Trustworthiness

According to Patton (1999), the integrity of qualitative research can be put to the question based on the researcher's assumptions (Patton, 1999). Creswell (2013) suggested using two or more triangulation techniques can enhance the trustworthiness of the study. Thus, the researcher used several techniques to demonstrate rigor in this study.

Bracketing. Bracketing is part of qualitative phenomenology studies, a process where a researcher sets aside his/her assumptions, beliefs, or information known about the topic and population under study (Creswell, 2013). Giorgi (2012) suggested that bracketing these ideas allows a researcher to stay true to the participant's experiences. The researcher accomplished this task in the engagement in a reflective process where it was important to journalize reflections and thoughts to include assumptions during the data collection and analysis. This method helped lessen the bias inherent from prior knowledge/experience, as well as enabled the researcher to immerse in the data.

Expert review. This was accomplished when the researcher met with her dissertation chair for two hours to go over the data and finalized the themes. The researcher also met with a committee member whose research focuses on refugees' experiences to discuss codes and

emerging themes, and she offered another perspective. To ensure the accuracy of data extraction, engaging in these meetings was critical (Creswell, 2013).

Rich and thick description. Additionally, the researcher included thick descriptions of the participant's experience of the phenomenon. Creswell (2013) suggested that thick descriptions are details of the participant's experiences that provide the reader with the context of the social problem studied. The researcher used rich, thick descriptions to illustrate participants' lived experiences, as expressed through in-depth interviews.

Summary

A qualitative research method was chosen because it allows for an in-depth exploration of a phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Furthermore, a descriptive phenomenology analytical approach was chosen because the goal of the study was to describe, as opposed to interpret or explain, the lived experiences of trauma in Rwandan refugees who resettled in the U.S., and there was little known about this population's experiences (Vagle, 2018). Data was collected from 13 Rwandan refugees using semi-structured interviews shaped by ecological systems theory. Data was analyzed using Colaizzi's (1978) five steps of descriptive phenomenological analysis to identify themes regarding the lived experiences of Rwandan refugees in the U.S.

Chapter Four:

Results

Introduction

By using a qualitative descriptive phenomenological approach, the researcher was able to begin to understand the lived experiences of Rwandan refugees with the aim to explore the genocide, migration, resettlement, and sociocultural factors that influenced Rwandan refugees' mental health in the U.S. This chapter describes the findings that emerged from 13 in-depth interviews. Participants' demographic characteristics are provided in this chapter. Additionally, themes and sub-themes from participants' own experiences, as well as rich, first-person accounts of their experiences are detailed below.

Participants' Demographics

A total of 13 participants, including ten men and three women (seven in person and six telephone interviews) from five different states, consented to participate in the study. All participants ranged from 27 to 48 years old, with a mean age of 35.92 years old, which means some were born before and some after the 1994 Rwandan genocide. Experiences varied based on age. Eight reported that they lost family during the 1994 Rwandan genocide, and similarly, eight of them had been displaced as a result of the genocide. The sample was overrepresented by men, with 10 of the sample being male. Including English, participants also spoke a variety of languages such as Kinyarwanda, Swahili, and French, which were reported to be most commonly spoken at home. Almost all respondents stated that they had children, and 11 of them had young children. The participants' length of stay in the U.S. varied, ranging from 1.5 years to 21 years (See Table 1: Participant Demographics).

Additionally, the length of stay in the U.S. was a factor in participants' resettlement experiences. Half of the sample reported the amount of time that they had spent in the refugee camps. Of those that reported, seven of them had lived in different refugee camps for more than ten years. This is important to note because experiences presented in this study represent experiences of individuals who had lived in other countries and different refugee camps for longer periods of time prior to coming to the U.S. Nine participants reported that they attended church weekly, while four of them stated they attended church at least twice a month. Church attendance played a significant role in participants' experiences, as described later in this chapter. The participants were highly educated. Four participants held master's degrees, five held bachelor's, two held associates, and the other two held at least a GED or a high school diploma. Those with minimum wage jobs reported more financial challenges during the interview. Eleven of the sample had a full-time job at the time of the interview. Participants' characteristics are illustrated in Table 1. Because participants' lived experiences varied tremendously, their unique experiences are presented to display the diversity and exposure to trauma. Additionally, it is important to note that it was uncommon for participants in this study to share their experiences and those of others in the community. This was noted to be a common pattern, especially with participants who are leaders and are engaged in their communities. It was also common for participants who are leaders in the community to answer questions giving specific mental health challenges and examples of cases in their community. All of these views and perspectives are presented in this chapter, as participants described them.

AGE RANGE (YEARS)	n =
25-30	2
31-35	5
36-40	3
41-45	2
46-50	1
GENDER	
Female	3
Male	10
SPOKEN LANGUAGE	
Kinyarwanda	13
Swahili	10
French	10
English	13
# OF YEARS IN THE U.S.	
1-5	5
6-10	4
11-15	3
16-20	1
# OF CHILDREN	
0	2
1-5	10

Table 1: Participant Demographics

6>	1
CHURCH ATTENDANCE	
Twice a month	4
Once a week or more	9
LEVEL OF EDUCATION	
High School or GED	2
Associates	2
Bachelors	5
Masters	4
EMPLOYMENT	
Full-time	11
Unemployment	2
LOSE FAMILY IN THE 1994 GENOCI	IDE
Yes	8
No	5
DISPLACEMENT RELATED TO THE GENOCIDE	
Yes	8
No	5

In response to the research questions guiding this study, four major themes and one subtheme emerged from in-depth interviews. The identified themes and subtheme were as follows: 1) Traumatic Experiences of Rwandan refugees: 1a) Effects of Trauma 2) Resettlement Experiences of Rwandan refugees in the U.S. 3) Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking Among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S. and 4) Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S. Participants experiences are organized by the research questions. Also, the identified themes were based on the common experiences among participants; thus, each theme demonstrates the shared common experiences while each quote was selected as they represent those uniquely shared accounts.

Theme 1: Traumatic Experiences of Rwandan Refugees

The theme "Traumatic Experiences of Rwandan Refugees" emerged as participants were asked to describe their lived experiences of trauma and resettlement in the U.S. While four participants focused more on resettlement challenges discussed later in this chapter, experiences described in this theme were prevalent among a few respondents who survived the 1994 Rwandan genocide. These individuals reflected on exposure to trauma, which included witnessing dead bodies or living in difficult situations for an extended time. In particular, a participant with the pseudonym Ben expressed seeing dead bodies and watching people being slaughtered, undoubtedly a traumatic experience. Ben also shared what he witnessed and how it impacted his mind, stating, "Looking at the fresh body of people, you know, cut into pieces, you know. That really, uh, made my mind unstable." On the contrary, a participant with the pseudonym John disclosed his experiences about the torture inflicted on him, such as being abandoned to die alone in the ditches after having his life threatened. John described that despite such a humiliating experience, he survived the genocide, albeit with negative ramifications on his health. John stated, Because of the genocide, I was, uh, I was almost killed. I almost got killed. I was hacked with a machete, and I was left to die in ditch dead bodies. I lived in the swamps for three months, and, uh, by the time I was rescued, I was pretty much dying. I was a skeleton.

A participant with the pseudonym Joe, on the other hand, expressed that the genocide was traumatic for everyone, and witnessing killings are part of the memories that are imprinted on their minds and remain ongoing. Joe shared, "everyone was in a bad situation because to see someone killed or being killed is a bad situation. And for us still, we have that bad, um, picture in our, in our thinking." Joe added due to the genocide; he was forced to witness his family killed. "Because you saw your brother, sister, parents, or your kid um, killed, or maybe you, you were attacked." And for Joe, trauma is constantly present because the loss of family members cannot be reversed. In this passage below, Joe continued to describe what it is like not to see family again. He shared,

But I cannot see them. I cannot see them. I cannot even say, ah, come and see me. I cannot go see them. That is another thing, which would give us, um, a trauma. Because you are, you know that you have your brother or your sister, your parents. Or you cannot see them. It is a big problem; it gives us very, yeah, yeah, it gives us trauma.

Amani, a non-genocide survivor, had spent seven years in refugee camp shared his understanding of causes trauma. Amani noted that a person with traumatic memories had to be present during the Rwandan genocide. He also added that life challenges could also provoke trauma. Amani said,

Ah, in the camp, I was going to say; actually, there is no big trauma. Okay. There is no trauma, but the little bit of trauma is there about life. So, sometimes they face trauma. Yeah, and they, most of the trauma is caused by, ah, because of the genocide.

Similarly, Paul provided his view on trauma, stating that trauma is often triggered and exacerbated during the Rwandan commemoration period in April. He said,

So, during April is where in Rwanda, they remember the genocide. That is when people suffer. Mental health issues usually happen in April because that is when to remember the genocide. Trauma is usually bad then.

Even though a few participants were explicit in describing their experiences related to trauma, it is worth noting five respondents disclosed that they survived the genocide but not all disclose their traumatic experiences. Notably, participants understood the concept of trauma as a phenomenon related to the genocide. As such, this next sub-theme highlights the effects of trauma as described mostly by those who endured the genocide.

Sub-theme 1a: Effects of Trauma Among Rwandan Refugees

Respondents who endured the Rwandan genocide reflected more on this sub-theme "Effects of Trauma Among Rwandan Refugees," where they discussed the traumatic nature of the war and its consequence on their mental health. John is distinctly unique, unlike the other participants. After residing in the U.S. for more than 20 years, married to a spouse that understands the Western concept of mental health enabled him to learn more about his suffering. In fact, he shared that he had been actualized to the Western understanding of mental health care, which motivated him to learn more about his mental health challenges. Therefore, during the interview, he explicitly shared the effects of trauma, listing numerous disorders such as PTSD, depression, and anxiety. John said,

So, uh, during... after the genocide, there were the refugee camps, group homes, uh, the boarding schools. I had PTSD, I, I had PTSD. I didn't know what it was, but right now, I know, you know, I had PTSD. I had a lot of anxiety, depression, uh, and, uh, I was, was, was, of course, you know, on the edge of a mental breakdown.

In sharing this, John also shared the general experiences of others in his community who endured trauma. He shared that it was common for those individuals to experience flashback memories, anxiety, and paranoia. John disclosed, "Some have flashback memories, and others do have what you could call anxiety. Um, because of what happened and the paranoia and panic..." He went on further to share that with his knowledge and understanding of mental health, he noted several individuals with depressive symptoms who stayed away from their social group due to the illness. He stated, "I know some of them who have been depressed, could not even stand where other people can be because of depression." While sharing about trauma, the researcher noticed that Paul often focused more on the general effect of trauma. For example, Paul indicated that trauma is stored in one's brain, and experiences stored in the brain can always come back. He shared,

Any war, any...kind of violence, issue happens. Events happen. Some people will lose their family members. Some people will face, troubling images, and ahh, I think that those are flash-back memories. Will come back anytime, or those kinds of emotional

stuff will not go anywhere. Because it's in the brain, and the brain anytime can go back. Similarly, a participant with the pseudonym Ezra disclosed mental health sequelae from trauma caused bad dreams, flashback memories, lack of sleep due to traumatic experiences that haunted them and kept them awake most of the night. Ezra described,

Uh, because, when, er, emotion comes from inside, then go outside how. Because when you start thinking of having those bad dreams about those flash memories – you are not gonna sleep enough. All night you're going to have insomnia. Or have a lack of sleep. So, when you sleep like two to three hours, what do you think is going to happen early in the morning? You wake up with no energy and fatigue all day. So physically, you're not gonna do well as you used to do.

Alternatively, Ben indicated that life decisions could provoke traumatic memories for him. Therefore, when such instances occur, his natural response results in poor decisions. Ben said,

Even now, it troubles me. Sometimes when I have to make decisions of particular simple issues in my life and, uh, that image, that situation comes back. There are some I make such an erratic decision based on that experience, and there is a certain time I make bad decisions because of that experience.

For John, however, traumatic memories made him suicidal and scared of the past. He disclosed, "That was something that would make me leave the classroom because I would try to commit suicide, you know, many times and, you know, that, you know, scare me." And for others like Ben, trauma was viewed as a chronic illness. Ben described,

I think, uh, you know, this is the thing. Once you have been there for a long time, it becomes part of your life sometimes. You feel like you are immune to them. It's like you have an antibody and an antigen in your body, and you cannot lay awake ... like if you have HIV in your blood, you know you have it. You, you, you, you, you, you're not gonna get better off it, so you have to live with it. So, this situation is like HIV in my body. I know I have witnessed this, have lived this situation, so I try to cope with it.

Using the same analogy, Paul shared that it was normal to be immune to trauma after experiencing it several times stating,

But as I told you, sometimes you get exposed to bad things, and it keeps happening and happening, and eventually, you get used to it, and it doesn't affect you anymore. So that is what's happening to that is what is happening to us. It's like a, you get sick, and you keep getting sick, and there's no medication, and you keep getting sick and sick and then eventually your body does not know what to do with it and decides to quit any minute

against the disease. And then... Yeah, but it is I mean, it is not a good analogy, but you just accept what happens to us.

Furthermore, John stated trauma was chronic because trauma symptoms were part of his lived experiences. He stated, "All that, anything goes with you, you know, uh, PTSD. Uh, it has, uh, you know, it has attached me in that way." John continued to describe that trauma had a long-lasting effect. He disclosed,

And that's something I remember I used to just knock on my keys and my heart is like, turn down the water and I would just stand off and uh, uh, you know, deal like what's going on, and it is just water and uh, until I realize, Oh, that's a reminder.

Apart from trauma experiences, the researcher also sought to understand how Rwandan refugees described their experiences post-resettlement and how they influenced their wellbeing. All participants discussed their resettlement challenges that varied based on their length of stay in the U.S. In essence, this next theme focuses on resettlement experiences.

Theme 2: Resettlement Experiences of Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.

The theme "Resettlement Experiences of Rwandan Refugees in the U.S." emerged as participants reflected on various aspects of their resettlement experience such as community, finances, worries concerning family members back home, and navigating the new system. All these are discussed individually in the sections below.

Importance of community. Having a supportive community was highlighted as important during resettlement. While this is true, only five participants touched on the importance of community, but five others shared they experienced isolation from their communities. Reflecting on the importance of community support in fostering positive wellbeing, a participant with the pseudonym Ade stated that having access to individuals from his country was crucial as they paved ways for the new incoming refugees. Ade said, Yeah, yeah. I met with some of them so they tried to give me the advice of how I can live in this new life. Okay. And that was helpful. That was helpful for me. Yeah, just the people who came from Rwanda before me.

Correspondingly, John shared community support was essential because it was ingrained in their culture. In John's community, people helped financially as well as emotionally. John stated,

You know we are typical, if you lose somebody, uh, if you are having, or you have some kind of back away, we chip in, and if you have some troubles, we can help each... I mean we typical African community that is, we are looking out for each other, and that most of them, I would say the majority of, of Rwandans in the USA, like let's say in down wage. Uh, yeah. We encourage each other. You know, we all, you know...the good thing about us, we are a few of us, which is good, so we know each other and the week, you know, everyone looking out for each other.

Furthermore, a participant with the pseudonym Bimana, from a different state than John, shared his church community was instrumental in providing a wide range of support: social connections, fundraising for weddings and funerals, as well as a place to receive prayer and comfort. Biamana said,

The church is the only place that you can get people together. Weddings also bring people together- people come to support each other for wedding functions. Family deaths- the church goes and helps families- they give them financial support and prayers and comfort them.

But, Jane shared that her support system aided encouragement, saying, "Helping each other, visiting each other and helping in listening to each other." In addition to social support, Jane found it essential to talk to friends about personal emotional struggles, especially about past trauma and what happened in Rwanda. Jane said talking created positive relationships and rebuilt

friendships saying, "People go to friends, can help, talk, we can talk to that friend, depend, the more you talk, the more reconciliation." Ezra suggested that having people in the community provided bereavement support, which is a critical component of the Rwandan culture during difficult times. For Ezra, a sense of support and unity in the community allowed people to forget the past and the current challenges. Ezra said,

If somebody passes away, everybody contributes, you know, because according to our culture, in the African culture, we have to, to contribute to whatever is going on, forget war or what is going too bad, to help as we can.

Even though community support was found essential for some, a participant with the pseudonym Yoseph, Ben, and Ezra had different perspectives to share regarding the availability of support. Yoseph stated due to the genocide, his trust in the community was lost, "No one to care for me. First, you do not trust anyone anymore after going through the genocide. No community lost my trust in people." Ben elaborated that people who have not endured genocide experiences may not believe what happened during the genocide; therefore, he avoided sharing his experiences with others. Ben disclosed,

There're still things that, you know, people who never lived in that situation, kind of, cannot understand. Unless you lived it. If I'm telling you now, you know, it's really hard to believe it, but one of the problems I have is to tell this story. Because I think, if I tell this story, this story to someone who never lived it, they would think I'm lying. They would think I'm crazy.

Due to a lack of support and loss of trust in people, many participants kept their painful experiences silent. Ezra stated living with the genocide experiences often meant withholding his personal story because it is something that cannot be shared with anyone. Ezra said,

Here, the problem is you live. You have problems, but you think nobody can understand my problem. You don't have anybody to share your problem with. You decided to, to be, yourself, self ... how can I say? You start to you decide to keep everything in you, yourself. You know, so, the problem is that, uh, here, you, you are isolated alone. You have a piece, but you have a physical piece, but there is something in you that you cannot share with anyone.

Ben shared experience of the Rwandan genocide changed his perspective about people in the community. While reflecting on his experiences, he gave the researcher an example of his first encounter with a job here in the U.S. He stated that, to him, smiling at strangers during the genocide period meant that you were about to be killed. After resettling in the U.S., he took on a customer service job where he was expected to smile at people. Ben described this experience to be difficult because it triggered a genocide experience. He described,

So, during the war, people who came in without us want to hide their... or their, their anger. They come smile, uh, smiling at you. You think they're coming to rescue you, but it's a way to attract you and kill. So, when I remember that and someone is telling me to smile to someone I don't know, I feel like, oh, if I find I smile to someone that I don't know, it's like, oh, it must be the person who was coming to kill me coming smiling at me. And you are telling me to apply the same strategy people use to kill others. So – there are still things that, you know, people who never lived in that situation, kind of, cannot understand.

Ben continued to share the experience of trust stating,

Trust is another issue. It takes a long time to trust someone. Especially coming from Rwanda, people are fearful. The Rwandan genocide caused this. You trusted someone one minute the next they killed you. There is that trust; we do not have enough people in our culture that will understand your experiences. No one will ever understand the genocide, what you have been through or, how do you share with people.

Although Ben expressed trust issues, he was not hesitant to voice some of the concerns regarding the nature of the resettled placement. He stated placing refugees in communities with no social connections could lead to social isolation. He stated,

The problem is sometimes people, they come here, and they do not have contact with anyone because they are here like two weeks, one month without knowing the surroundings. And, you are not going to know who is there and be able to help him if you do not know, you know, he or she. So, that is another challenge.

According to Ade, adapting to the U.S. lifestyle felt socially isolating. He shared issues may arise; however, nobody would know how to help because people in his community met less frequently compared to back home. Ade said,

So now they associate where we live. You may have a problem, but you cannot see anyone come to see you and just say, "Sorry," or... sometimes it happens. Yeah, that is a difference. Is it because people do not know or what becomes, I mean, like being associated in the U.S. we do not meet people like we used to meet in Rwanda. Yeah, that is the difference. Because everybody stays with his life.

Bimana stated, due to a different way of life in the U.S., Rwandan refugees lost a sense of community cohesion, unlike back home. Bimana said without community, people "died alone" and lived in isolation. He disclosed,

People are isolated, dying alone, and it is not ok. We need to help each other. It is the nature of the system that does not allow people to see each other. Very isolating and very sad and no community like we always had in Africa. We have lost the culture because we

are not able to see each other, or people do not know where to go and help each other. We need a lot of help.

While not prevalent among many participants, lack of role models was also discussed in the study.

Lack of role models. Similar to the importance of having good community support, some participants discussed the need for role models in refugee communities. Yoseph mentioned refugees were living in poverty because most of them had minimum wage jobs. Yoseph perceived role models as individuals who would assist in educating refugees on different job opportunities. According to Yoseph, without role models, refugees continued to experience challenges because a majority of them become complacent with the low income they earn. Yoseph continued to share that refugees transfer their earnings into their country's currencies which may appear to be more within that context; however, they fail to understand their income does not match their living standards in the U.S. Yoseph said,

Poverty – people are living in poverty – no way to advance because they do not see anyone who has done it. Models would help to tell people they can do it. They can change their situation. No model keeps people in poverty. They all see each other, and making \$10 is good because I have a lot of money in the African mind. If you have never made that people, you get super happy to have that and make that money. So, people do not think of something else.

Similarly, Ezra also emphasized the importance of community. Ezra said,

We cannot even because of more Rwandans we start coming here in America maybe a few years ago. We do not have people from Rwanda who came before... who maybe... who finished the schools here who have maybe some organization or some of the businesses, some big jobs whatever. Those who can help us to say, um no, do this, do this, do this. So, other communities they came before, they came more years ago... so they have, they have a very big um, um, maybe associations.

In addition to community-related experiences, financial challenges were reported to influence participants' mental wellbeing during resettlement. More specifically, financial worries brought persistent anxiety among Rwandan refugees.

Financial worry. Some participants discussed their experiences related to financial issues or worry about income. For example, Jane, an unemployed woman with three children at the time of the interview, shared that she worried about how she would manage medical bills in the event that her children become ill. She stated,

I worry about the health of my children. I do not have health insurance, so if my kids get sick, I worry about how I am going to pay for the hospital bills. I worry every day and pray for my kids every day.

Jane continued to say, "I worry about my kids' future, money to get to meet their needs." Likewise, Paul stated, "You know when you have a family, a wife and kids, you always worry about the future of your kids." Although employed, Ade shared with the researcher that he worried about money. Because he worked in a minimum wage job, Ade said, "Every day I worry about money problems. Okay. And I work every day; I don't see the money. Yeah. That's kind of a problem."

Joe informed the researcher that financial insecurity was something he worried about on a daily basis. Four young children and an unemployed wife meant relying on one low-income. Joe described this to be an overwhelming experience as he stated he had other financial responsibilities, such as repaying some loans. Joe shared,

I have stress because each day I think about something which you are supposed to do, but financially I got to do that. Yeah. And whatever I have here... almost everything is a loan.

So, I have that stress to say, now, how will I pay these loans? Because I'm doing this, the school for trucks is a loan. I have a car, that is a loan. I have a loan for building my credit, that is a loan.

Ezra, who is well engaged in this community, highlighted that financial strains caused depression and flashback memories of the trauma to some individuals. Ezra shared,

You are gonna be kicked out of the house, and then you become homeless. It is the way in which even most of them become very depressed. They end up having those nightmares and those dark memories. Flashback memories because of what is going on with your financial situation.

Ezra and Amani associated financial stress to cause health concerns in the following ways. Ezra stated, "An African man will tell their woman, yeah, I am having anxiety because I did not pay the bill." Even though a number of participants did not discuss many issues related to accessing food in the U.S., Amani, however, suggested that stress-related financial challenges made people ill. He shared, "Because I know sometimes, you know, people may get, you know, they may even get sick, you know, thinking about all of, you know, 'I don't have enough food." Income and finances were not the only anxiety-driven experience reported by participants. Having left family members was concerning to them, respondents.

Worry about people at home (country). In addition to financial stressors during resettlement, there were a few participants who left family back home who shared that they worried about their safety. Yoseph shared, "You miss your family too; you worry about them. You left them behind. You do not know if they are ok. Being safe here is good, but what about your family in your home country?" Additionally, family separation fostered social isolation during resettlement. For example, Yoseph talked about how he felt lonely due to family separation and lack of friends in the community. He said, "You have no one to talk to; you have no friends; you miss your friends, your community, and your people." Joe expressed similar feelings about isolation. He said,

So, for us, we have that challenges because uh, we don't have those people who came before, who came a long time ago, who can teach us, who can show us... and you can even go somewhere to say, "Ah no, our fellow Rwandan, they have this problem, this problem." So, that's the only issue with, you know, with us here. Because you don't have anybody to talk to, to share, you know.

A participant with the pseudonym Moses, however, stated that losing his dad was an ongoing grieving experience that he and his family continued dealing with. Moses disclosed,

Ahhh life over the camps is just it affects my dad was old, was having nothing like food, medicine, he is sick, then coz no one to take him to see the doctor, he passed away, just the only thing that affected us.

Difficulties navigating new the system. Stressors related to adjusting to the new system were also discussed. Despite the resettlement assistance that all participants receive upon arrival, some of them shared that it was difficult to transition into living independently and navigating unfamiliar systems. Ezra stated that he felt "dumped" after the three months of resettlement support. Ezra described,

What's going to happen after three months when the refugees come here, we call it a honeymoon, they rent your house, they put everything inside, then the kids are going to school and then, after eight-month, all money they are going to cut out, and then they find you a job and then they will show you the bus, number one or number three- From here to go to your job, and then they dumped you.

Ben shared that transitioning to the U.S. life is difficult as integration took time. For him, he felt that he had to start all over again, which caused him tremendous stress. Ben admitted, You know, uh, from a refugee camp, you know, where life is totally different from life here. It was like, uh, you start from scratch. Everything has to start from scratch. Yeah. Which costs you much more energy than any other person.

Ezra, who assists in fostering transitioning experiences of African refugees in the community, shared some of his thoughts and daily experiences he encountered in the community. He mentioned that adjusting to the new systems had a pervasive impact on some individuals. Ezra shared these resettlement difficulties, including the inability to navigate the system, are often a cause of stress, depression, and suicidal behaviors. Ezra said,

Somebody, you have never taught him or her how to navigate the system, what do you think is going to happen to him or her? What is going to happen? They are going to get depressed. Even they are going to, you know, some of them, they committed suicide. We have some cases where people end their lives because they cannot make it.

In discussing their experiences related to resettlement, Ben mentioned that they had to adjust to the different gender role expectations in the U.S. Ben shared gender roles differed in Rwanda. He stated husbands are often the main breadwinners while their wives assumed the caregiving role. In conversation, Ben told the researcher that reversed gender roles often created stress for both partners because they had to transition into the new responsibilities. Ben stated,

So, I can say that in church-wise, it's not a problem. We tend to have the same belief, Christianity. It's not really a problem. But, money-wise, managing money, you know, paying bills, you know, like, back home, only the man, husband, is the one who knows how to pay bills. But here, the women, even the wife, have to learn how to pay bills because if a man is not there, you know, the wife should know how to do that. So, that's a different culture, too. The wife, the women, they feel like it's too much burden on me, you know? Man, man has to pay bills. Man has to know how to do everything. Do you know? And here, you both, because of equality... so, if you think we are equal, we need to know everything. We both need to know equally how to share everything.

As previous sections focused on trauma and resettlement experiences, this next theme demonstrates participants' perceptions of mental health, mental health experiences, and service use.

Theme 3: Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking Among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.

The theme "Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S." emerged while participants discussed their perceptions of mental health and the barriers that may hinder participants needing to seek care. For example, participants identified cultural factors such as stigma associated with seeking mental health care, lack of knowledge, economic factors, in this case, financial strain, and language barriers were discussed as some of the challenges and barriers that hindered Rwandan refugees from treatment.

Stigma of mental illness. Participants believed that stigma deterred people with mental health concerns from sharing their symptoms or admitting they needed care; thus, their preconceived ideas were aversive enough that individuals who needed care may have feared to ask for it to avoid the stigma. Ade stated that those who suffered from mental distress were perceived to act "crazy" or are seen, "foolish." For example, Ade shared,

People think you are a crazy or foolish person if you have mental health issues. People do not seek mental health care. They do not want to be seen as crazy. Also, sharing about mental health is a risk. There is fear that the more you share, the more you are vulnerable. Many people prefer to keep to themselves, and others choose to drink. If you drink, you forget about your problems.

John also shared that mental health stigma generally made people keep their experiences silent. He described, They are going to call you crazy, and nobody who has those symptoms would not like to tell exactly what is going on because, because of that stigma, they are not going to let other people close to them to know what is going on.

Similarly, Ezra stated,

Yes, I can say something about that. Because some people believe that PTSD, mental illness, is kind of like an abomination, it is a form of evil, kind of a voodoo-and this demon. They think that if somebody who is pure in spirit can pray for them, and then those things go away.

Because feelings of stigma were often patronizing, people avoided disclosing their mental health challenges to the public. Ben stated, "The only people, the neighbors or the family members, they know there is something wrong with this person." And according to a participant with the pseudonym June, others concealed their experiences and engaged in behaviors. June shared,

They don't even; they don't even think about it. It was just the same as typical; it was stigmatized. There is a stigma behind it, and people are scared to announce it. So, what they do, they do special meds. Meds, the one man, self-medicate, and stuff.

Paul also shared that if people have mental health issues, they are perceived as individuals who are needy and incapable of doing things on their own.

Paul said,

But for the family members, I mean, they, they do what they can to make them, uh, comfortable the daily needs for like... But for other people from outside, uh, uh, I mean some people just, uh, uh try not to go around them and some people deep understanding and they just, uh, see them as people that, uh, need help.

Amani and Paul shared interesting perceptions about people with mental health issues that are important to note. Amani explained how mentally ill individuals are destructive and should be constrained and isolated. Amani disclosed,

But sometimes, the equivalent is some crazy person; he can fight. He can break

everything. They put him like this; he cannot say he cannot do that as an example. They

put the buzzers on tradition, give it to him. Sometimes we cannot give, go out, or not.

Furthermore, Paul shared that those who had been exposed to trauma were individuals who are mentally disabled and stayed in isolation while family members provided care for them as Ben also shared earlier. Paul shared,

Uh, I mean, they, uh, they still see that, and most of those people with a mental disability there is no go. They do not go around for the sights of everyone. They stay home all the time. And, uh, I mean it is because there is no, there is nothing that the, uh, it is, it is all about the family member. Whoever is to the person is the one who is responsible for everything. The patient himself or herself I do not know because he is mentally disabled anyway, so family members take care.

Similarly, Paul offered his thoughts about people with mental illness and described it below saying,

So, has to, to extend to them cause it's really hard for them to understand what is, I mean, what is going on because depending on their cultural background, but when they see. I mean when they see. For them, they seem as if someone has a mental issue they think like, okay someone who has been running around and naked and just... Yes. That's what they mostly think. That, that crazy person, yeah. So, if they see that person and they're okay, yeah. So, this one is probably that of witchcraft or probably bad luck. But now they have, they have had the understanding that okay, maybe it's a drug addict or maybe it's

related to you know, the hardship of life. Now connect the hardships of life with their mental status, but few people, uh, see that connection. Not too many.

Furthermore, people did not consider exposure to trauma to cause mental health. A general understanding of mental health concerns is typically associated with bad luck or witchcraft. A participant with the pseudonym Judy said,

Yeah. Okay, yeah. So, I mean, mental health I mean, some people take it differently. So, they may think that, uh, they may think that for someone to have some kind of mental issue... Maybe that is just for bad luck, you know. And maybe witchcraft. Bad luck or witchcraft, they don't really see mental health as a connection with the, uh, situation.
Additionally, John shared his stories regarding PTSD and how it was stigmatized within the

regarding the importance of seeking mental health care. He shared his attempt to educate and explain the benefits of going to seek help. Here is how John expressed it.

Rwandan culture. This individual spoke about his experiences to educate the community

You know, once if we can get over that stigma that people get the help and people will live life. Cause, you know, a, a, anytime I tell people, especially my African people, I'll say, I, you know, I suffer from PTSD. They're like, "What? Are you crazy?" I'm like, "I'm not crazy. It's the same thing as diabetes. It is the same thing as, uh, you know, uh, other health issues." It's just like having a, you know, a, a, a, a, a torn ligament. You just have to deal with it and walk on it. Likewise, it is not a big deal. So, it's the biggest, biggest obstacles that I've faced, you know, to try to convince me, my people, to look for, to go to the...to seek help, because they feel like, you know.

Furthermore, stigma poses a particular challenge, as one participant noted that people might try to remain positive and resilient with the issue. Moses shared,

But I said already, for someone who has a mental problem, he can't tell... he can't come from... scared to go from home to go to the hospital to say, "Ah doctor, um, I'm not feeling okay. I'm not feeling well." You know? Becausehe or she feels like, you know, he's okay. But what he acts, he acts. Whatever he does, he did; it's become long. So, for him, we can't know that he's in the wrong position.

In addition to stigma, lack of knowledge regarding mental health contributed to participants 'lack of mental health use.

Lack of knowledge. John expressed that he did not recognize he had mental health symptoms; however, after having received mental health care services, he was able to understand what he suffered from. He said,

Oh yeah. I, I would say that here, I would spend the resources, the best thing I got here, is just, you know, being able to go to, to the hospital and, uh, meeting the, um, mental health, uh, worker or mental health specialist, who called that, who, who pointed out that I was suffering from PTSD. I didn't know what a post-traumatic disorder was.

Sometimes, you know, like getting angry, then I was back to getting happy. In the passage above, John is describing how, upon arrival to the U.S., he was linked to a mental health specialist who was able to explain mental health symptoms, and as a result, he was able to understand mental health. Without this type of interaction with a health care provider and openness to learning, he stated, "I, you know, I thought I was just crazy like everybody else." Similarly, Ezra stated,

They do not know. The resources are there, but they need people to help them to get access to those resources. I think the services are enough, but the message is not really in the community about PTSD, what is it? About depression, anxiety, paranoia, about MDDD. And those kinds of sickness.

Furthermore, Ben shared that many individuals in the community are not aware that mental health services exist. He emphasized the importance of educating the community to foster help-seeking behaviors among Rwandan refugees. Ben shared,

Also, uh, uh, many people that do not know that this service exists. You know. Go through the those community-based organizations and, uh, inform them, you know, educate them that there are these services. You know. So, people can use them. You might... I may; I may have the shop here say something. "But if I don't let people know that I sell this service, nobody would come."

In addition, another respondent reflected on the lack of knowledge, stating the importance of having resettlement agencies consider conducting assessments in creating awareness about mental health symptoms among Rwandan refugees who have endured trauma. Joe stated,

Yeah. It's why I said, if Catholic or IRC or another organization, or other health services can say, "Ah no. We have in this area – we have ten people from Rwanda. Let's visit them. Let's chat with them. Maybe those people because of the situation they pass through... They can have these problems. Let's go and do that research we can know if they're okay or not."

Comparably, Paul stated the lack of knowledge concerning mental illness is often due to the lack of understanding that exposure to trauma could impact one's mental health. Paul said,

Yeah. And then if you try to connect, let's say to connect the, uh, mental health it is not congenital of course. It is not congenital. If you try to explain that depending on the condition of life, they were living in the impact that that has on their health. If you try to connect that to their mental status, mental status, people may not get it.

Paul stated further that disbelief of the illness made people refuse treatment. He described,

You may not; you may not, you may not believe what they say. You may not; you may not accept that they are going to help because if your deep understanding will be denying on, on, on false facts. So yeah, I think if you have a, if you have a position of such understanding, and in disease. Somehow you are willing not to accept any kind of, uh, a Western type of healing.

Ben, on the other hand, voiced his concerns regarding mental health service availability. Through his engagement in the community, Ben suggested that his community needs education in creating awareness about the U.S. system and local services. While creating awareness is important, he proceeded to share that Rwandans have different cultural perceptions and beliefs of mental health. Lack of education about service availability and mental health understanding, in addition to language issues, were described to hinder the community from seeking care. Ben stated,

You know? So many refugees, also, they have problems knowing which service. Where are these services located, how can they access these services? Uh, uh, it's our community of the Rwandese here in America who are not really aware enough of this system. So, they need... first of all they need, uh, education and the, they need transformation to believe how this system works. Yeah, after that, if being informed, they can make, you know, decisions. They can compare what they believe and, and what they are then informed about. So, the issue hasn't seen any such effort to inform the people about these services. Even if you see these leaflets, the posters are in English. People don't... the majority of them don't speak English. You know? So, I think, uh, it's going to be, uh, very tough to, you know, to know this, uh, system and get help from it. But, if the effort is, you know, is met to inform them, educate them, they can see the difference. And then decide which service to look for.

For some participants, seeking help for mental health concerns was their priority.

Help-seeking and financial strain. Given the opportunity to reflect on perceptions of mental health services, Ben discussed that it was impossible to seek mental health care prior to supporting the family and especially when resettlement medical insurance assistance was timelimited. Ben shared,

But, it becomes very tough when it comes to health issues. Like, just of us, they have Medicaid, well, for six months. After that, no Medicaid. You have to work. You have to get your, uh, health issues and imagine, uh, someone... As you know, our African culture, we have so many kids, you know. So, you see the family comes with eight kids and the only... and those kids, all of them, they are under 18. Right. So, they, the working family, are mom and dad. Then, mom... excuse me. Mom and dad, they work for seven-point five dollars per hour. So, you expect that family to pay rent. Pay the basic needsof the kids and pay insurance for themselves. That will not be possible.

Similarly, due to family financial needs, mental health care was less prioritized to ensure basic needs were met first. Bimana shared,

Mental health becomes less of a priority because people have to work to meet their needs. I cannot go see a counselor before I meet the needs of my kids, that is, making money so I can pay rent, pay loans for a car, and phones and all the bills I have. So, mental health is not something I think about. I think of surviving first. We don't even know what mental health is a lot of the time. We are just trying to make it here. We work 12-hour shifts. No way. Mental health – cost money – we are trying to pay other things that are due. Nobody would prioritize mental health.

Linguistic barriers and help-seeking. Linguistic barriers were shared to be another challenge and a reason why some Rwandan refugees experienced issues in seeking mental health treatment. For example, a participant discussed that due to language differences, most of them

often used translators when seeking care. This participant, who is also a leader in the community, expressed his concerns about using translators on the phone. He shared these concerns regarding the misunderstanding and miscommunication outcomes that can take place between the physician, interpreters, and the client. This participant was particularly unhappy with the lack of relationship when the health care provider used phone translation to care for individuals who had mental health concerns. He shared that doctors may not understand their culture, and to use phone translations to examine mental health patients meant poor service provision. Ben stated,

First of all, you don't speak the same language as the doctor who is, uh, giving you the service. If they do it, they will call a translator, uh, on the phone. You, you cannot interpret a patient on the phone be... a mental patient on the phone. First of all, you need to observe his emotions. You need to observe the gestures she's, or he's making. And act as he is, so you are on the phone, you are telling the doctor, ay, the patient does this, this. First of all, the patient will not be treated accordingly... so that makes the service poor, the type of interpretation provided, and the way the doctors failed to understand the patient because of culture. Doctors don't know the patient's culture.

Judy shared that the language barrier made it difficult to express herself. Judy stated, "Language barrier, you don't speak the language, so you struggle. You don't know how to express yourself." June reflected on the importance of language literacy in an employment setting and in learning the new system. June shared,

Yeah, yeah, another challenge in language. Umm, mmm-hmm. Here is America, they use English, while in Rwanda, in my time, they use French. Kinyarwanda. So, to learn English...to be able to go to work, it is also another challenge. And to learn, as I said, the system. That learning, that English. Despite the barriers and challenges to service use, participants identified a number of cultural coping strategies that are accepted and often utilized to help deal with trauma and resettlement stressors. This last theme illustrates those cultural strategies.

Theme 4: Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S.

This last theme, "Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S.," as briefly stated above, describes ways of dealing with mental health issues and different stressors. While sharing his thoughts on the mental health services in the U.S., Ben stated that many people from his culture do not understand mental health, and the lack of understanding could contribute to a lack of awareness about the illness. Ben shared that mental health is a phenomenon that is not well understood by Africans, especially refugees that are residing in the U.S. Ben shared,

Those who are uneducated and, you know, majority of, uh, Africans and especially in Great Lakes, Rwanda, uh, do not have a good education, you know. So, they believe that, uh, they, they do not know such a thing as mental health as, you know, the way some world knows.

Ben continued to share some of the perceptions regarding mental health and healing approaches often used in this culture. He mentioned that when individuals in his culture observe certain behavioral issues arising, they often link such concerns to external factors such as witchcraft and spiritual causes. In such cases, Ben indicated that people would often seek help through church and church leaders to pray for those issues to go away, or others may seek help by turning to traditional doctors of witchcraft. Ben disclosed,

So, they ... so, when things change, they believe, "Oh, this is witchcraft." You know? Yeah. This is witchcraft. Oh, this is demons. This is the devil. We need to take him to the church. The priest, here, the pastors, need to pray for him. They, this demon will be kicked out. You know? So, that's how they believe. And the other, they have to go find the witch doctor too, you know, to give them a little and say some citations but believe that, uh, the devils. And demons. That is how we believe. You know? So, like, like, every person, I think they believe, they believe that, uh, mental health is devils, uh, demons, you know, yeah.

In our discussion, Ben also shared information worth noting regarding the perceptions of mental health. He told the researcher that sometimes people link mental health issues to the relationship between a person and their ancestors. Ben stated,

Our ancestors died, and they come back to this person and cause him to act in such a way he is acting. So, Nyabingi (a traditional healer in Rwanda) will come, and, you know, they will pretend Nyabingi will come and help calm down that person. So, those are different strategies. Different ways people use it. Christians will take the mental patient to the church. The educated people who know it are really mental issues, they will take him to the clinic for a psychologist or psychiatrist.

Despite the help-seeking options, it was interesting to hear Ben share his views. It is important to note that Ben is an advocate in his community for ensuring refugees have access to different resources, including mental health services. While he had knowledge about western mental health care, Ben preferred to seek care through his community. Praying and speaking to a pastor regarding emotional challenges was a norm for him. Ben said,

So, um, the... Another way it is the the center ... where they go for, for, for different activities. Mostly by distracting myself, distracting myself into... or reading books most of the time. Uh, sometimes write in journals. Okay. And, um, all those... anything that interests me, uh, going to meet people, different people talk. I like to talk to people. Different story. Not like this story because it keeps me forgetting that story for a while. (he meant genocide) But sometimes when I'm alone, it comes back again, you know. They can go there to chat with people. With people who have that experience. We can go there to pray, to do what. We can go to churches. I mean, the people from church, like pastors or fathers, we can go to that area to try to chat with those people, pray with them. You know, uh, I can't say that it is traditional, but... it's not a hospital or clinic as such... but it's just a way to distract someone you know... because sometimes you can because... because, sometimes it's because someone is thinking too much... so he needs someone to distract him, to take him from those thinking to put him in another, another, another, another field.

Similarly, Yoseph stated to cope with trauma, people pray and give back to their community while others do advocacy work. Yoseph said,

Some people also pray. In Rwanda, that is how people deal with it. You find others wanting to give back to their society a way of healing. They advocate for others. This is another way of rebuilding community and healing.

Religious coping practices, such as trusting God and working hard, were present as part of the coping strategies. Ezra stated, "To do things here truthfully people trust in God, but real people believe in hard work. And, er, some people cannot even afford their insurance." However, Bimana had a different perspective regarding help-seeking. He stated, "Rwanda culture is Patriarchic – especially men are supposed to be strong. You do not go share your challenges with anyone. You keep strong. You should be a man."

Not many participants in this study shared that they sought help through professionals. However, it is important to note the perceptions of the few that discussed professional help-seeking behaviors. Even though Yoseph was not utilizing this service, he stated that he did not

understand why mental health services were separated from the rest of the health care services. Yoseph said,

I think mental health services should be considered part of regular health care services. Why do we need to separate it from other health needs? People do not get access to it because those with good insurance only are limited to them. If it was part of a health checkup, maybe people could use it more. It is limited to people with good health care coverage.

John, however, had sought treatment during the resettlement period in the U.S. While he does not utilize psychiatric services anymore, John expressed,

I would say that here, I would spend the resources, the best thing I got here, is just, you know, being able to go to the hospital and, uh, meeting the, um, mental health, uh, worker or mental health specialist, who called who, who pointed out that I was suffering from

PTSD. I didn't know what post-traumatic disorder was

Meanwhile, Ezra shared his hesitation to use pills for mental health disorders. He shared with the researcher that he felt counseling and therapy were better for healing. Ezra stated, "Medication is helping, but therapy and counseling can be better than medication." Ezra was sharing about his experiences with the use of these services.

In addition to positive coping mechanisms, other participants discussed general maladaptive coping strategies common in their community. None of the participants in this study admitted to having utilized these strategies. Amani shared that some people may choose to engage in self-medication, i.e., alcohol consumption. Amani suggested that, due to resettlement stressors and prior life struggles, the easier way to cope with these challenges is to engage in "drinking or smoking." Similarly, John said, youth is engaged in drug abuse, "That means the alcohol and um, you know, you know, young people now started using drugs. Drugs I'll say are

now a huge thing; it's now a huge problem in our society." John was revealing some of the concerns that have caused issues among the youth in his community.

Furthermore, Bimana, another community leader, stated that he had noticed similar patterns that caused issues in the community. In his perspective, young people engage in these activities because their parents engaged in such. Bimana disclosed,

Drinking and driving is another issue that I have noticed within our community. As a leader of the community, I see our people suffering from these issues. We come from Africa, we do not know the law, and people learn to drive. They drink and drive. It is not good. People get in trouble. It is a huge problem that we need to address. We need to teach about the law. We need to make this a priority. People need to understand this. You see, if parents are doing this, children are going to do that same. Children are going to repeat the same patterns because they do not have good role models. Children start drinking and get into drugs.

Another aspect that was shared was that people waited until it was too late to reach out, and as a result, people committed suicide. Ezra shared,

But alcohol, alcohol, it is, it is very, especially those who live here, you know, I've, you know, they, I, and um, then we even lost a kid, uh, this, um, this summer, uh, he committed suicide. So, and they wouldn't know what it was, not until, you know, the the the mom called the nurse told us that he suffered from depression and anxiety. So that and nobody could talk about it because it's very, very taboo. So, it's not spoken in our lang... you know, in our culture. It's something very, very, I would say. It's; still, it's still a taboo in our culture.

Meanwhile, Joe discussed how mental health issues were difficult for people to openly share because individuals were afraid they would need to seek professional help. Therefore, living in silence and pretending to be well was a common way to avoid sharing personal struggles with others. Joe said,

But I said already, for someone who has a mental problem, he cannot tell... he cannot come from... scared to go from home to go to the hospital to say, "Ah doctor, um, I'm not feeling okay. I'm not feeling good." You know. Because he or she feels like, you know, he is okay. But what he acts, he acts... whatever he does, he did, it becomes long. So, for him, we cannot know that he's in the wrong position.

And Ben shared a similar perspective saying. "You know, someone who has that issue, first of all, he doesn't believe that he has that issue."

Summary

The purpose of this study's qualitative descriptive phenomenological study was to explore the lived experiences of trauma in adult Rwandan refugees who settled in the U.S. and the sociocultural factors that influenced Rwandan refugee's wellbeing. Findings from this study suggested that Rwandan refugees had diverse experiences, such as exposure to the Rwandan genocide trauma, resettlement stressors, and challenges in seeking mental health to include cultural barriers: adjusting to a new system, linguistic barriers, stigma, financial strains, lack of knowledge about mental health symptoms, lack of mental health services, and lack of trust. Such challenges were noted to hinder refugees from successfully integrating and utilizing the host culture mental health services. Despite the challenges, participants shared different coping strategies that were often preferred based on personal preference and understanding of mental health, including social support (i.e., friends, church members, and personal hobbies), religion, (or spiritual practices), and professional help.

Chapter Five:

Discussion

Introduction

The purpose of this descriptive phenomenological analytic (DPA) study was to explore the lived experiences (associated with genocide, migration, and resettlement) and socio/cultural factors that are associated with Rwandan refugees' mental health and well-being – unexplored phenomenon among this population in the U.S. The sample consisted of thirteen participants (seven in person and six telephone interviews) who self-identified as Rwandan refugees. The ecological theory guided the research questions, and data were analyzed using Colaizzi's (1978) five steps for DPA. Findings presented in chapter four provided insight into traumatic experiences and the effects of trauma, resettlement experiences, barriers to mental help-seeking among Rwandan refugees, besides, to help-seeking behaviors that differed from their U.S. counterparts.

These findings extend the literature on how untreated traumas may be exacerbated by socio-cultural aspects or migration to produce lasting negative effects on survivors. For instance, in the current study, survivors reported continued experiences of trauma-related challenges two and a half decades after the genocide. This study highlights the urgent need for relocation programs to consider mental health screening and support as refugees resettle in new environments. Similarly, the findings of this study extend the current literature on post-resettlement stressors to spotlight the pervasive influence of resettlement stressors on refugees' well-being. Collectively, the challenges that Rwandan refugees face cannot be resolved by one-size-fits-all or a silver bullet, but rather calls for development and implementation of multi-level and multi-component culturally attuned interventions that include participants cultural assumptions. The findings from the study also demonstrated that refugees 'experiences are

interconnected, requiring both formal and informal settings to collaborate to target their needs holistically. This chapter is organized such that findings are further discussed in relation to the previous literature, implications for practice, policy, and social work education. The limitations and strengths of the study and recommendations for further research close to the chapter.

Research Consistent with Previous Literature

Trauma Experiences

When participants were allowed to describe their lived experiences of trauma, the experiences of three Rwandan genocide survivors were prevalent on the theme of *Traumatic Experiences of Rwandan Refugees*. In this theme, respondents described atrocities of the 1994 genocide similar to those that have been documented by previous scholars. These findings were congruent with recent findings of Banyanga et al. (2017), who investigated the trauma caused by the 1994 Rwandan genocide among Rwandans residing in Finland. The current study found that witnessing or being forced to witness killings, being exposed to dead bodies, and experiencing torture were some of the traumatic experiences reported in the current study and consistent with the testimonies of other survivors (Human Rights Watch, 2003; Pham et al., 2004; Schaal & Elbert, 2006). Although a majority of the sample did not report having utilized any mental health services in the U.S., one participant that had used psychiatric services post-resettlement shared his mental health diagnosis during the interview.

During the interview process, these respondents identified symptoms that were much in line with other symptoms reported from existing studies conducted in Rwanda using quantitative methodology. The reported symptoms in the present study included on-going PTSD and anxiety (Fodor et al., 2015; Hagengimana et al., 2003; Munyandamutsa et al., 2012; Neugebauer et al., 2014; Pham et al., 2004; Schaal et al., 2014) as well as depression (Bolton et al., 2002; Brouneus, 2010; Eytan et al., 2015). Furthermore, genocide-related effects disclosed by participants constituted flashback memories and panic attacks (Hagengimana et al., 2003), and the longlasting effects of trauma (Schaal et al., 2012).

Suicidal behaviors, sleep problems, and feeling tired due to insomnia and chronic symptoms of trauma were also expressed in the current study. These findings suggested that Rwandan refugees, specifically genocide survivors, may continue to struggle with war-related traumatic effects post-resettlement. This knowledge is important and helpful, especially in informing resettlement agencies and health care professionals to prioritize screenings for refugees who have endured trauma and continued assessments during resettlement to develop trauma-related interventions specifically for this group.

Resettlement Experiences

Participants disclosed different stressors that contributed to their mental health distress of which were highlighted in the theme *Resettlement Experiences of Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.* Among the stressors discussed, financial worries were commonly reported and acknowledged to have caused mental distress among Rwandan refugees. These findings corroborate that of Sangalang (2019) documented that low-paying jobs caused depression and other poor mental health outcomes among refugees. In the current study, some participants revealed financial worries regarding their inability to meet family health care needs, and low-wage employment was associated with stress. These considerations are echoed in Kim's (2016) study among Latino and Asian refugees who experienced depression due to a lack of employment opportunities. Kim and Kim (2014) and Kim (2016) reported that financial distress negatively perpetuated the mental health experiences of Southeast Asian refugees during resettlement. These findings were consistent with the experiences of Rwandan refugees, who also shared that money problems triggered depression.

Participants expressed concerns about family separation one of the salient determinants of anxiety among resettled refugees across studies (Miller et al., 2018; Nsonwu et al., 2013; Tinghög et al., 2017) was reported to cause higher PTSD and depressive symptoms among Iraqi refugees (Nickerson et al., 2010) while the death of loved ones has been associated with social isolation (Tinghög et al., 2017). With Rwandan refugees, family separation triggered persistent fear about family safety and the death of loved ones generated insistent grief.

Additionally, existing findings indicated that refugees experienced depression due to reversed gender roles (Kim & Kim, 2004). Although depression was not explicitly reported in the current study, participants shared reverse gender responsibilities changed family dynamics, and those changes initiated stress within the family because individuals had to adjust to different family obligations. Further, difficulty navigating health care systems has also been reported to be one of the factors to poor mental health outcomes from previous studies (Cengiz et al., 2019; Ibrahim & Hassan, 2017; King et al., 2017). In this study, participants reported that they felt stressed and depressed while maneuvering the new system, and these experiences were coupled with the stress of having to start over and feeling abandoned when refugees' resettlement assistance ended after three months.

Interestingly, a community leader described that resettlement caused suicidal thoughts among some individuals and that integrating into a new environment was perceived as an overwhelming experience, especially for refugees coming from refugee camps. Participants in this study shared their experiences of social isolation, and this experience is directly linked to poor mental health (Li et al., 2016). Social isolation was correlated with family separation among refugees in previous studies (Nickerson et al., 2010; Tingog et al., 2017). However, Rwandan respondents shared that social isolation was a result of the busy lifestyles in the U.S. For instance, some felt isolated and lost touch with the community because of working long hours to

LIVED EXPERIENCES OF RWANDAN REFUGEES

meet family needs. And for others, lack of community cohesion compared to that back home and have no access to other African refugees in the resettled community created isolation. Furthermore, while not true for all genocide survivors, lack of trust among people was one of the consequences of the 1994 Rwandan genocide and its aftermath. As a result of this, individuals felt vulnerable to openly share the massacre experiences, which resulted in isolation for some.

Coupled with resettlement experiences, individuals avoided sharing their genocide experiences. Silencing one's lived experiences is common, especially among African refugees from Burundi who have resettled in other western countries. In a study conducted five years ago, the authors noted that minimizing or choosing not to disclose their own traumatic experiences was seen as a form of protection (Puvimanasinghe et al., 2015). Additionally, minimizing such experiences was a way to make sense of own experiences of trauma and post resettlement adaptations (Puvimanasinghe et al., 2015). Previous qualitative findings also argued that fear to uncover mental health challenges might stem from the fear of not trusting one's information can be kept confidential, a factor that influences mental health disclosure among refugees (Shannon et al., 2015).

These findings provided evidence that resettlement surely is a stressful experience but varied among Rwandan refugees. Such evidence supported prior work suggesting that premigration challenges and emerging resettlement stressors directly impacted the well-being of refugees (Hynie, 2017. Li et al., 2016). Since participants in this study expressed different challenges that impacted their mental well-being during resettlement, suggest the need to explore strategies to examine how these stressors can be reduced.

Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking

Also, resettlement challenges and Rwandan refugees' perceptions of mental health care undoubtedly influenced their help-seeking behaviors. These experiences were delved into in the theme *Barriers to Mental Help-Seeking Among Rwandan Refugees in the U.S.* During the interview, it was evident that participants associated numerous factors to their lack of health utilization. Those factors, as previously discussed, consisted of personal experiences such as financial issues, trust concerns, and inability to navigate the health care system, meaning some did not understand where to seek services. Other resettlement barriers discussed below included language issues, the stigma of mental illness, and lack of knowledge about mental health symptoms collectively influenced Rwandan refugees' mental health use.

The stigma of mental health, lack of knowledge and trust were interwoven in participants' narratives, and these factors were emphasized as key barriers to help-seeking among Rwandan refugees in the U.S. In fact, participants believed that individuals with mental illness were immobile, "crazy" "foolish," or useless and destructive individuals. Due to such labels, participants mentioned Rwandan refugees feared to disclose their mental health challenges to avoid being classified into these categories. Such descriptions implied that Rwandan refugees with mental health concerns experienced greater stigmatization consistent with the findings by Boise et al. (2013), who suggested that mental health stigma can have a negative influence on African refugees' perceptions, attitudes, and behaviors towards treatment. In this same study, Boise and colleagues (2013) also indicated mental health stigma was one of the stumbling blocks in mental health service use among African immigrants and refugees.

In addition to stigma, Rwandan refugees disclosed personal and structural barriers such as a lack of knowledge in recognizing their mental health symptoms and the lack of knowledge regarding mental health resources. Similar findings across refugee populations have reported refugees' lack of service utilization due to their lack of understanding of their symptoms as well as the lack of awareness of service treatment options (Yun et al., 2012). Findings from the current study suggest the need for mental health support, specifically in educating refugees about mental health symptoms and creating awareness after resettlement. To support this population, it is important to foster community educational opportunities that can provide information on mental health symptoms. Increased knowledge and understanding may potentially increase Rwandan refugees' service utilization as needed.

Rwandan refugees endured financial distress, and linguistic barriers caused challenges in seeking assistance. Concerning finances, Rwandan refugees prioritized their basic human needs, such as feeding the family. Although two participants discussed having utilized mental health services and reported no language concerns while seeking help, a community leader explained in detail how the language issues impacted the experiences of others in the community. Despite the availability of interpreters, the community leader raised concerns regarding misdiagnosis and misunderstanding when assessing and providing services to a mentally ill client through telephone interpreters. Concerns voiced in the study were associated with the client's cultural perceptions, and taboos of mental health were shared to exacerbate confusion between the health care providers and the recipient. A study by Yako and Biswas (2013) indicated that language barriers lead to poor health quality. It is imperative to consider and come up with applicable solutions to improve the quality of care for refugees. One of the strategies that should be put in place should include training both interpreters and health care professionals about cultural aspects that may impede clients from accessing the care they need. Additionally, focusing on using locally trained interpreters that understand participants' cultural concepts of health may minimize miscommunication and misunderstanding. Collaborative efforts would foster effective care provision (Kirmayer et al., 2003).

Help-Seeking Behaviors

While collaboration may create opportunities to foster more exceptional health experiences for Rwandan refugees, holistic approaches in considering their help-seeking approaches may also improve these experiences. As noted in the interviews, it was evident that participants' ways of healing from trauma, mental health challenges, and resettlement stressors were different from that of the U.S as reflected in the theme Rwandan Refugee Coping and Help-Seeking Behaviors Differ in the U.S. Participants indicated that they often sought help through various avenues. Even though none of the participants stated to have utilized traditional healers and witchcraft doctors in the U.S., some community leaders alluded that seeking help through these individuals was common in their country. Additionally, it was disclosed participants' helpseeking behaviors were determined by the cause of mental health and their understanding of the illness. For example, participants stressed the importance of seeking care through their community, including a church, religious support, and talking to trusted friends. Religious practice, such as prayer, was stated to mitigate stress and diminish negative thoughts and emotions from trauma. Similarly, existing literature has identified similar coping strategies for psychological distress in studies with African immigrants residing in the U.S. (Isakson & Jurkovic, 2013; Simmelink et al., 2013). Some participants also indicated that having a support system such as attending church, being in a community with others of similar values and beliefs, or consulting with their religious leader was a great source of support that alleviated stressors for some. In line with previous research, support was found to be an important factor for psychological distress among Congolese youth as reported by Joyce and Liamputtong (2017) and among Sudanese refugees in the findings by Schweitzer et al., (2006). Specifically, social support for the Rwandan refugees meant having family, friends, as well as a community member, to talk to for emotional support. For some, support systems, such as having a community of other refugees from African during arrival to the U.S., was critical because they

contributed positively to their integration experiences. Besides, participants mentioned how those individuals helped in navigating the system to obtain different resources, which enhanced their resettlement experiences and fostered their wellbeing. Some participants also identified that social support came through the community where support contributed to their needs through assisting one another with child care needs and raising funds for memorial events or weddings. Having such a sense of community was a way to get through different challenges, especially during resettlement, and, as a result, reduced their stress levels. Keeping this in mind, it is beneficial to incorporate some of these coping strategies in practice.

Implications for Social Work Practice

Findings from this study demonstrate that Rwandan refugees' experiences and understanding of mental health are not only complex but also interconnected and interactive-informing social work practice with refugees (Eriksson et al., 2018). This study's use of the ecological framework to provide an in-depth understanding of refugee mental health and resettlement experiences lends relevant to advancing the development of targeted and culturallyattuned interventions for marginalized populations. Findings of this study contribute knowledge that will contribute to achieving four social work grand challenges of (1) closing the health gap; (2) eradicate social isolation; (3) create social responses to a changing environment; (4) achieve equal opportunity and justice (Uehara et al., 2013).

Microsystem. The microsystem consists of individual influences within a person's immediate environment. This system may include the individual's beliefs and persona (Bronfenbrenner,1979). Participants attributed different factors, such as exposure to trauma, to their ability to trust others on a day-to-day basis, which varied across participants based on age. For individuals who survived the 1994 Rwandan genocide meant they suppressed their own lived experiences to avoid being vulnerable or because they believed their stories would not be believed. Trust, while identified on a microsystem level, can also influence how refugees seek mental health care services on a larger system (macrosystem). For example, distrust among people as well as other interrelated factors on this system (macrosystem) may be perceived as a barrier that is pronounced a refugee individual with such experiences while seeking help, Therefore, from an intervention perspective, it is important to build trust and understand the root of their trust concerns. A good place to start building trusted relationships with Rwandan refugees may include allowing clients to tell their stories when they are ready, allowing more time during therapeutic relationships, staying consistent but more importantly showing interest in wanting to learn client's culture would eventually lead into opportunities where Rwandan refugees may not feel vulnerable. By applying the principles of cultural humility as suggested earlier, where a client is perceived as an expert, could also foster positive experiences for them (Ortega & Coulborn Faller, 2011). Fear is associated with being a Rwandan, and a refugee was identified as barriers to care. Therefore, it is important to note that this may be a unique maladaptive coping behavior and may hinder this population from seeking needed care. Explaining the importance of consent and emphasizing the importance of consent may also promote trustable collaborations (Shannon et al., 2015). Others discussed stressors, such as gender roles concerns. Women often assumed caregiving roles in Rwandan; therefore, having to change these roles was part of the on-going adjustment for families. Perhaps integration opportunities specifically on labor-force participation for women during resettlement might be important.

Mesosystem. Mesosystem factors comprised of how microsystem factors interact with other factors, including those of the community, church, and social support (Bronfenbrenner,1979). Nine participants stated they attended a church weekly while four attended at least twice a month. Support from church, friends, and family was perceived to be paramount for many individuals. Similarly, other studies have found that having access to support is critical for emotional well-being (Learnan & Gee, 2012) and social support such as the presence of family and friends has been reported as a protective factor for distress and resettlement stressors for refugees (Dako-Gyeke & Adu, 2015; Mitschke et al., 2016). Noteworthy, refugees from collective cultures such as those from Rwandan may benefit from group interventions. Previous interventions have focused on individualized time-limited interventions, such as narrative exposure therapy (NET; Gwozdziewycz & Mehl-Madrona, 2013; McPherson, 2012; Neuner et al., 2004), interpersonal therapy (IPT; Meffert et al., 2014), and eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (Acarturk et al., 2015; Ament-Lemke, 2018; Ter Hiede et al., 2011). The reliance of participants on support from their church, friends, and family could be an indication of the importance of collective cultures among the Rwandan refugees. Collective cultures are common within African cultures. Such cultures place emphasis on cumulative experiences such as those of others and less emphasis on individual experiences (Schlaudt et al., 2020). In line with collective culture values, some Rwandan refugees might find group counseling services more valuable than individual services. Hence, practitioners could expand service provision to refugee communities such as church settings where Rwandan refugees indicated to have received more of their emotional support. Not to mention, practitioners could adapt to Kaffa Intervention when conducting group counseling. Kaffa is a therapeutic intervention that is specific to East African refugees, which incorporates psychological and spiritual healing practices similar to modern group counseling in the west (Loewy et al., 2002). Kaffa intervention uses coffee in a group counseling setting where clients are given the opportunity to serve each other coffee, allowing space for others to be vulnerable without judgment and creating a supportive environment for those in the group. This intervention has been found effective among East African refugees and could be adapted to fit the mental

health needs of Rwandans (Loewy et al., 2002). While this may be favorable for some, it is important to conduct an assessment to understand the importance of these interventions among Rwandan refugees. Additionally, ensuring that Rwandan refugees have access to social connections might create a sense of connectedness in their communities and a decreased sense of social isolation for some.

Exosystem. Exosystem factors consist of those systems from the outside that influenced the micro and meso systems of a person. For example, displacement experiences and media (Bronfenbrenner,1979). Exosystem factors were less frequently discussed by participants in this study. However, a few participants shared their worry and fear for family safety, missing family members, and the death of a loved one. Practitioners should be aware of these factors and examine refugees' experiences from a holistic perspective. It is essential to be mindful that stressors of the family in the original home country or death of loved ones are part of refugees' on-going experiences in addition to resettlement factors in their immediate environments. Therefore, focusing on the ecological factors and the interactions within each system may be an effective way to target their diverse challenges (Miller et al., 2018; Worabo et al., 2016).

Macrosystems. The macrosystem represents the cultural and societal structures which also interact among the previous methods (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). However, different experiences discussed often overlapped. In this case, how the culture of a Rwandan refugee is influenced by other systems and, in return, impacted by societal perceptions. In this study, perception of mental health, beliefs of mental illness, the stigma of mental illness, language barrier, and lack of cultural interpreters and reverse gender roles were evident as part of interactive factors within Rwandan refugees' experiences. Mental health stigma is one of the most commonly recorded barriers among refugees. Shannon et al. (2015) argued that culturerelated beliefs and perceptions of health shape individuals' understanding of health, which may influence their willingness to seek care. Kleinman (1997) suggested the importance of exploring clients' understanding of health and illness in order to understand some of the cultural aspects that align individuals' views with regard to treatment and illness. As noted in this study, several factors cumulatively influenced Rwandan refugees' perceptions of mental health and help-seeking. For example, shame and stigma associated with individuals who had mental health concerns may have delayed their disclosure of these issues or resulted in them denying the existents of the problem. In addition, those with mental health issues, as earlier mentioned, were not regarded as relevant in the community. Therefore, to avoid such consequences, Rwandan refugees were common for them to suppress or deny emotional issues. Furthermore, since seeking professional health was not customary in Rwandan systematically contributed to the seeking behaviors of this population. Developing informative strategies targeted to dismantle negative perceptions of mental health such as stigma is needed among Rwandan refugees.

Chronosystem. Chronosystem examines transitions taking place over time and on each system discussed above (Bronfenbrenner & Ceci,1994). Life transitions for refugees are diverse, complex, and interrelated. For example, refugees are forced to leave their country of origin, which may result in family separation, their social system, and part of their culture. Additionally, refugee experiences in refugee camps can be detrimental. Evidence suggested that prolonged stays in refugee camps can be a daunting experience for refugees, and longer waiting periods at refugee camps can worsen their mental health (Li et al., 2016). Participants in the study shared that refugee camps were crowded with a scarcity of resources such as food, in the health care system, and insecurity. Upon resettlement, refugees were faced with challenges related to family separation and loneliness for some of the participants in the study. Post-migration, as discussed earlier, consists of challenges in adjusting to a new foreign social environment, difficulty finding employment, and new cultural norms. These challenges can be personal but influence the

refugees' larger system. For example, Rwandan refugees encountered social and systemic challenges. These consisted of linguistic barriers, economic challenges, lack of knowledge and awareness, challenges in expressing health concerns, in addition to cultural barriers such as stigma associated with mental health, all of which limited them in receiving care. Noteworthy, Rwandan refugees experiences varied based on one's age, length of time in the refugee camp, length of stay in the U.S., social-economic status but findings from this study suggest the importance of understanding their experiences holistically because of pre-migration experiences along with post-resettlement challenges may put refugees at risk of mental health issues. The adoption of Bronfenbrenner's ecological framework provides insight that individuals' factors all intersect and influence Rwandan refugees in different ways and on each ecological system. Using this framework calls for collaborative partnerships that create a holistic examination of refugees' risk and protective factors and targeted interventions for positive wellbeing for this population.

Policy Implications

As already suggested, a multi-modal approach is also critical in policy settings. This means that healthcare providers, resettlement agencies as well as community agencies have a role in fostering the well-being and resettlement experiences for the Rwandan community in the U.S. Participants in the study highlighted the limited time with refugee resettlement funds and the insufficient time given to learn about the U.S. culture. This process for participants created not only stressors but stirred previous traumatic memories for some. To ensure a smoother transition, it is important to consider putting programs in place where participants receive follow-up assessments about their progress during resettlement. This may include re-education about available services, employment options, and checking to ensure they are connected to their community or are integrating well and with no issues. Resettlement agencies could distribute

these tasks by reaching out to other communities such as churches or local organizations who can volunteer to host community events to educate these communities in their language. Having these in place would enhance community cohesion and foster positive experiences of refugees. Hynie (2018) suggested that to improve the mental health state of refugees during resettlement, receiving communities and arriving refugees both have to changes. This process requires collaborations, initiating social connections activities, and hosting learning opportunities to deconstruct stereotypes, attitudes, and beliefs about refugees, which in turn can shape the daily interactions and experiences of the newly arrived and those in the local communities.

Implication for Social Work Education

Educating social work students to understand heterogeneous among refugee experiences is important because these future practitioners have an important role in providing culturally relevant services to refugees. For example, educators should provide first-hand knowledge by inviting refugees as guest speakers. Guest speakers would expose social work students to learn real-life experiences of refugees who have endured trauma, migrations, and resettlement. Also, using different refugee case scenarios in classrooms would engage students to implement solutions as it relates specifically to refugees. In addition, the National Association of Social Workers [NASW] (2016) outlined a number of assessments that are critical when assessing atrisk populations, including refugees. In such cases, educators could invite social workers working with refugees to share and inform students on how these assessments play out in the field. Furthermore, including refugee policy analysis assignments, assigning research papers on refugees to work, placing students in resettlement agencies, and having students present on their work or internship experiences increases learning opportunities for students from various perspectives.

Limitations and Strengths of the Study

There are limitations worth noting in this study. There were more men than women in the study. Although, the snowball sampling method is recommended for the hard to reach populations such as refugees (Sulaiman-Hill & Thompson, 2011) this method of recruitment may have influenced access to more men in the study because the respondent's social networks were drawn from participants' groups. There are other factors related to the over-representation of men that may explain this as well. For example, exposure to violence may differ by gender. Even though every intention was made to ensure diversity in recruitment, the researcher noted that women often declined the interviews stating that the genocide occurred 26 years go, and they wanted to forget it while some shared they were afraid to share their stories because they felt that someone might be spying on them. This was common among women who were recruited to participate in the study, suggesting that their unwillingness to shared personal experiences may be related to fear or that trauma memories would come back. It is noteworthy that in previous studies that have examined the difference between men and women in response to trauma have indicated that refugee women who have experienced sexual violence are more likely to avoid trauma-related discussions due to guilt and shame (Ainamani et al., 2020; Alpak et al., 2015; Neuner et al., 2004). Even though the women recruited did not cite sexual violence as a reason for their hesitation, it could be a factor that may have played a role as well.

Furthermore, it might be worth pointing out that hegemony is prevalent in many African countries. That is the notion that men have the authority to make the final decisions for the family. While gender equality may not be dismissed within the African context, it is imperative to note that culturally, a man from a patriarchal society such as Africa considers a man to have authority over his wife (Connell & Messerschmidt, 2005; Stern et al., 2018). The researcher noted that even though she recruited families (i.e., husbands and wives), husbands who were

interviewed did not refer their wives to be interviewed in this study, suggesting that perhaps gender hegemony may have been a factor as well. In other words, since males had spoken in the interview, gender hegemony would suggest that male voices may have represented the entire family's stories as such explains why male participants never referred their wives to be interviewed.

Also, interviews were recorded and conducted in English, which was limited only to those who could articulate their stories in English. Even though participants understood English and confidentiality of the study, it is possible that recording interviews and language may have resulted in participants withhold information when sharing their stories. In addition to this, four participants self-identified as leaders in their community. These leaders often shared their experiences and of those in the community. While the information was pertinent and valuable, their perspectives of others may have different implications.

Additionally, the sample was highly educated. While this may not be a limitation, it is worth noting because certain demographics were underrepresented; thus, these findings cannot be generalized to the entire population of Rwandan refugees. The sample was also overly represented by participants who mainly stated they are Christian; therefore, experiences of those that have different religious values may vary. During data collection, the researcher intentionally excluded asylum seekers, many of whom were readily available in Texas. Their experiences would have enhanced the scope of this study.

Given that this was an exploratory study, the sample was drawn from Rwandans with various demographics, as shown in Table 1. Stressors and experiences were different based on these variables, and future studies should consider these factors when conducting research. For instance, some participants who experienced genocide discussed their experiences regarding this event while those born after the genocide shared their accounts as well. Therefore, it is important to keep in mind that Rwandan refugees have a range of experiences, including genocide exposure, as well as resettlement, which shaped their lived experiences. Exposure to trauma differs across refugees, but evidence suggests that those exposed to trauma prior to resettlement often report increased PTSD symptoms five years after resettlement (Bogic et al., 2015). Thus, studies should consider these experiences separately. Also, the length of stay in the U.S., and availability of social support (other Africans in the community, access to African churches, and close friends) contributed to refugee mental health experience. As such, it not possible to rely on the finding of this study or generalize these experiences to others but rather acknowledge and consider these variations while examining similar topics. Additionally, two participants had sought mental health treatment, but the continuity of care was different for these two individuals. For example, one participant suggested the use of medication to alleviate mental health concerns was not their preferred method of healing; however, having knowledge of the mental health symptoms was important because it enabled them to identify personal ways of coping with trauma through non-medical strategies. This participant had a great social support system. On the other hand, the participant that utilized medication found it beneficial, however, this individual had spent less than two years in the U.S. and did not have social support (community member from own country to talk to) in their community. Hence, while informal coping strategies for distress was important, findings from this cannot be generalized as participants' help-seeking experiences were also diverse. Given that African immigrants and refugees commonly lean on their support system (i.e., family and church) for distress (Piwowarczyk et al., 2014), it would be beneficial to examine the correlation between social support and participants formal service utilization.

Despite the limitations, this study was the first to explore the experiences of genocide, migration, and resettlement and socio-cultural experiences that influenced Rwandan refugee

mental health and well-being in the U.S. The advantage of conducting qualitative research is its ability to capture in-depth narratives of participants' stories and the healing process that occurs as participants narrate their stories (Creswell, 2013). The study findings would inform individuals working with Rwandan refugees about the diversity of their experiences. From an ecological perspective, findings from the study suggest the importance of seeking to understand multifaceted experiences when working with Rwandan refugees.

Implications for Future Research

To address these limitations, future studies should consider sampling the experiences of women. Their voices would be critical in understanding their experiences and broaden the scope of research. Additionally, this study had a mixture of survivors and non-survivors, and future studies would likely benefit from separating and exploring these experiences separately. Such experiences could suggest implications in working with survivors, non-survivors, and as well as understanding their on-going preferred mental health treatment options. Future studies should also examine the lack of knowledge and understanding of mental health symptoms as well as the cultural barriers that may hinder individuals from seeking help a much-needed knowledge that would call for attention in developing strategies to increase participants' awareness of these symptoms and thus increase their help-seeking behaviors.

Given that the length in the U.S. was related to refugees' ability to connect with their community as well as connect to resources. It also seems that participants' access to similar cultural support systems fosters resettlement experiences. Examining these experiences on a continuum basis, for example, the use of longitudinal studies to explore the nature of resettlement stressors on genocide survivors and non-survivors, would be beneficial in tracking the mental health experiences of Rwandan refugees from different stages.

Conclusion

This study explored the experiences of resettled Rwandan refugees, which provided an understanding of the multifaceted experiences of trauma and resettlement among this population. Findings from in-depth interviews suggested that exposure to trauma and the effects of trauma differed for every Rwandan refugee. Additionally, Rwandan refugees faced different stressors during resettlement and their willingness to seek mental health services was influenced by their knowledge of mental health, varying trust level, the cultural association of mental health symptoms, stigma, language fluency, their awareness of mental health care. Addressing Rwandan refugees' mental and resettlement concerns can be examined from an ecological framework that emphasizes a multi-dimensional approach in targeting refugees' diverse concerns. This includes creating partnerships with refugees' existing support systems while assessing the immediate needs so enhance their mental health experiences as well as their services use.

References

- Acarturk, C., Konuk, E., Cetinkaya, M., Senay, I., Sijbrandij, M., Cuijpers, P., & Aker, T.
 (2015). EMDR for Syrian refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms: Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 6(1), 27414. https://doi:10.3402/ejpt.v6.27414
- African Center for the Constructive Resolution of Disputes [ACCORD], (2016). Refugees in the Great Lakes Region. http://www.accord.org.za/conflict-rends/refugees-great-lakesregion
- African Rights. (2004). *Rwanda Broken Bodies, Torn Spirits Living with Genocide, Rape and HIV/AIDS*.http://preventgbvafrica.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/broken bodies. African rights.pdf.
- Ainamani, H. E., Elbert, T., Olema, D. K., & Hecker, T. (2020). Gender differences in response to war-related trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder–a study among the Congolese refugees in Uganda. *BMC psychiatry*, 20(1), 1-9.https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2420-0.
- Alemi, Q., James, S., Cruz, R., Zepeda, V., & Racadio, M. (2014). Psychological distress in afghan refugees: A mixed-method systematic review. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 16(6), 1247-1261. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-013-9861-1.
- Alpak, G., Unal, A., Bulbul, F., Sagaltici, E., Bez, Y., Altindag, A., ... & Savas, H. A. (2015).
 Post-traumatic stress disorder among Syrian refugees in Turkey: a cross-sectional study. *International journal of psychiatry in clinical practice*, *19*(1), 45-50.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/13651501.2014.961930.

- Ament-Lemke, A. (2018). Healing the Mind and Body: Practitioner Perspectives on Integrating Cognitive and Somatic Approaches in Psychotherapy with Refugees, Asylees, and Asylum Seekers.
- American Psychological Association [APA] (2018). *Trauma*. https://www.apa.org/topics/trauma/.
- American Psychological Association [APA] (2019). *Well-being*. https://dictionary.apa.org/wellbeing.
- American Psychological Association [APA], (2017). Multicultural Guidelines: An Ecological Approach to Context, Identity, and

Intersectionality. http://www.apa.org/about/policy/multicultural-guidelines.pdf.

- Aoun, A., Joundi, J., & El Gerges, N. (2018). Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms and associated risk factors: A cross-sectional study among Syrian refugees. *British Journal* of Medical Practitioners, 11(1), 1106.
- Banyanga, J. D. A., Björkqvist, K., & Österman, K. (2017). Trauma inflicted by genocide:
 Experiences of the Rwandan Diaspora in Finland. *Cogent Psychology*, 4(1), 1333244.
 https://doi:10.1080/23311908.2017.1333244.
- Bartholomew, T. T., Gundel, B. E., & Kantamneni, N. (2015). A dream best forgotten: The phenomenology of Karen refugees' pre-resettlement stressors. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 43(8), 1114-1134. https://doi:10.1177/0011000015606221.
- Betancourt, T. S., Gilman, S. E., Brennan, R. T., Zahn, I., & VanderWeele, T. J. (2015).
 Identifying priorities for mental health interventions in war-affected youth: a longitudinal study. *Pediatrics*, *136*(2), e344-e350.
- Binagwaho, A., Kyamanywa, P., Farmer, P. E., Nuthulaganti, T., Umubyeyi, B., Nyemazi, J. P. ...& Ngirabega, J. D. D. (2013). The human resources for health program in Rwanda

new partnership. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *369*(21), 2054-2059. https://doi:10.1056?NEjmsr1302176.

- Bogic, M., Njoku, A., & Priebe, S. (2015). Long-term mental health of war-refugees: A systematic literature review. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 15, 29. https://doi:10.1186/s12914-015-0064-9.
- Boise, L., Tuepker, A., Gipson, T., Vigmenon, Y., Soule, I., & Onadeko, S. (2013). African refugee and immigrant health needs: Report from a community-based house meeting project. *Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research, Education, and Action*, 7(4), 369-378. https://doi:10.1353/cpr.2013.0045.
- Bolton, P., Neugebauer, R., & Ndogoni, L. (2002). Prevalence of depression in rural Rwanda based on symptom and functional criteria. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *190*(9), 631-637. doi:10.1097/01.NMD.0000030568. 45847. AE.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. & Evans, G. (2000). Developmental science in the 21st century: Emerging questions, theoretical models, research designs and empirical findings. *Social Development*, 9(1), 115-125. https://doi:10.1111/1467-9507.00114.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Ceci, S. J. (1994). Nature-nurture reconceptualized in developmental perspective: A bioecological model. *Psychological Review*, 101(4), 568–586. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.101.4.568.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology*, 22(6), 723-742.https://doi:10.1037/0012-1649.22.6.723.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1983). Beyond policies without people: An ecological perspective on child and family policy. In. E. Zigler, S. Kagan, & E. Klugman (Eds.) *Children, families, and*

government: Perspectives on American social policy (p. 393-414). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1981). Ecological systems theory. Annals of Child Development, 6, 187-24.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Bronstein, I., & Montgomery, P. (2011). Psychological distress in refugee children: a systematic review. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 14(1), 44-56. http://doi:10.1007/s10567-010-0081-0.

- Brounéus, K. (2010). The trauma of truth telling: Effects of witnessing in the Rwandan Gacaca courts on psychological health. *Journal of conflict resolution*, 54(3), 408-437. https://doi:10.1177/0022002709360322.
- Brune, M., Haasen, C., Krausz, M., Yagdiran, O., Bustos, E., & Eisenman, D. (2002). Belief systems as coping factors for traumatized refugees: A pilot study. *European Psychiatry*, 17(8), 451-458. https://doi:10.1016/S0924-9338(02)00708-3.
- Bryant, R., Edwards, B., Creamer, M., O'Donnell, M., Forbes, D., & Felmigham, K. (2018). The effect of post-traumatic stress disorder on refugees' parenting and their children's mental health: a cohort study. *The Lancet*, 3(5), 248-258. https://doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30051-3.
- Canino, G., & Alegría, M. (2008). Psychiatric diagnosis is it universal or relative to culture?*Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(3), 237-250. https://doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01854.x
- Capps, R., Newland, K., Fratzke, S., Groves, S., Fix, M., McHugh, M., & Auclair, G. (2015). *The integration outcomes of US refugees: successes and challenges*. Migration Policy Institute.

- Cengiz, I., Ergun, D., & Cakici, E. (2019). Posttraumatic stress disorder, posttraumatic growth and psychological resilience in Syrian refugees: Hatay, Turkey. *Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry*, 20(3), 269-276. https://doi:10.5455/apd.4862.
- Cohen, J. (2007). *One-hundred days of silence: America and the Rwanda genocide*. Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Colaizzi, P. F. (1978). Psychological research as the phenomenologist views it. In Valle, R. S., &
 King, M. (eds.), *Existential-Phenomenological Alternatives for Psychology*. Oxford
 University Press.
- Colic-Peisker, V., & Walker, I. (2003). Human capital, acculturation and social identity: Bosnian refugees in Australia. *Journal of community & applied social psychology*, *13*(5), 337-360. https://doi:10.1002/casp.743.
- Connell, R. W., & Messerschmidt, J. W. (2005). Hegemonic masculinity: Rethinking the concept. *Gender & society*, *19*(6), 829-859.
- Coughlan, R., Stam, K., & Kingston, L. (2016). Struggling to start over: human rights challenges for Somali Bantu refugees in the United States. *International Journal for Human Rights*, 20, 123-137. https://doi:10.1080/13642987.2015.1061237.
- Cox, E. D., Nackers, K. A., Young, H. N., Levy, J. F., & Smith, R. M. (2012). Influence of race and socioeconomic status on engagement in pediatric primary care. *Patient Educational Counselling*, 87, 319-326. https://doi:10.1016/j.pec.2011.09.012.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Cultural Orientation Resource Center. (2014). *Refugee backgrounders*. http://www.culturalorientation.net/learning/backgrounders

- Dako-Gyeke, M., & Adu, E. (2015). Challenges and coping strategies of refugees: exploring residual Liberian refugees' experiences in Ghana. *Qualitative Social Work*, 16(1), 96-112. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325015596218.
- de Jong, J. P., Scholte, W. F., Koeter, M. W. J., & Hart, A. A. M. (2000). The prevalence of mental health problems in Rwandan and Burundese refugee camps. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 102(3), 171-177. https://doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2000.102003171. X
- Des Forges, A. L., (1999). *Leave none to tell the story: Genocide in Rwanda*. New York: Human Rights Watch.
- Drozdek, B. (2015). Challenges in treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder in refugees: Towards integration of evidence-based treatments with contextual and culture-sensitive perspectives. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *6*, 1-8. https://doi:10.3402/ejpt.v6.24750.
- Drumm, R. D., Pittman, S. W., & Perry, S. (2004). Social work interventions in refugee camps: An ecosystems approach. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 30(2), 67-92. https://doi:10.1300/J079v30n02_05.
- Dryden-Peterson, S. (2015). The educational experiences of refugee children in countries of First Asylum. National Center on Immigrant Integration Policy: Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/educational-experiences-refugeechildren-countries-first-asylum.
- Dyregrov, A., Gupta, L., Gjestad, R., & Mukanoheli, E. (2000). Trauma exposure and psychological reactions to genocide among Rwandan children. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 13(1), 3-21. https://doi:10.1023/A: 1007759112499
- Dunn, E. C. (2016). Refugee protection and resettlement problems. *Science*, *352*(6287), 772-773. doi:10.1126/science.aaf8962.

- Eftekhari, S. (2004). *Rwanda, struggling to survive: Barriers to justice for rape victims in Rwanda* (Vol. 10). Human Rights Watch.
- Eriksson, M., Ghazinour, M., & Hammarstrom, A. (2018). Different uses of Bronfenbrenner's ecological theory in public mental health research: What is their value for guiding public mental health policy and practice? *Social Theory & Health*, *16*, 414-433. https://doi:10.1057/s41285-018-0065-6.
- Erinkveld, B. F. H. (2016). *The land of a thousand broken hearts: Trauma and reconciliation in post-genocide Rwanda* (Master's thesis).
- Esses, V. M., Hamilton, L. K., & Gaucher, D. (2017). The global refugee crisis: Empirical evidence and policy implications for improving public attitudes and facilitating refugee resettlement. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *11*(1), 78-123. doi:10.1111/sipr.12028.
- Esses, V. M., Medianu, S., & Lawson, A. S. (2013). Uncertainty, threat, and the role of the media in promoting the dehumanization of immigrants and refugees. *Journal of Social Issues*, 69(3), 518-536. https://doi:10.1111/josi.12027.
- Espinoza, S. (2016). *Barriers to mental health treatment within the Congolese population*. https://med.virginia.edu/family-medicine/wpcontent/uploads/sites/285/2017/02/Stephanie-Espinoza-Congolese-Mental-Health_Web.pdf.
- Esses, V. M., Hamilton, L. K., & Gaucher, D. (2017). The global refugee crisis: Empirical evidence and policy implications for improving public attitudes and facilitating refugee resettlement. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *11*(1), 78-123. https://doi:10.1111/sipr.12028.
- Eytan, A., Munyandamutsa, N., Mahoro Nkubamugisha, P., & Gex-Fabry, M. (2015). Long-term mental health outcome in post-conflict settings: Similarities and differences between

Kosovo and Rwanda. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *61*(4), 363-372. https://doi:10.1177/0020764014547062.

- Fazel, M. (2018). Psychological and psychosocial interventions for refugee children resettled in high-income countries. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 27(2), 117-123. https://doi:10.1017/S2045796017000695.
- Fazel, M., Reed, R. V., Panter-Brick, c., & Stein, A. (2012). Mental health of displaced and refugee children resettled in high-income countries: risk and protective factors. *Lancet*, 379, 266-282. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736.
- Fazel, M., Wheeler, J., & Danesh, J. (2005). Prevalence of serious mental disorder in 7000
 refugees resettled in western countries: A systematic review. *Lancet*, 365(9467),1309–1314. S0140-6736(05)61027-6 https://doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)61027-6
- Fisher, C. (2013). Changed and changing gender and family roles and domestic violence in African refugee background communities post-settlement in Perth, Australia. *Violence Against Women*, 19(7), 833-847. https://doi:10.1177/1077801213497535.
- Fodor, K. E., Pozen, J., Ntaganira, J., Sezibera, V., & Neugebauer, R. (2015). The factor
 Structure of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms among Rwandans exposed to the
 1994 genocide: A confirmatory factor analytic study using the PCL-C. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 32*, 8-16. https://doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2015.03.001.
- Giorgi, A. (2009). *The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: A modified Husserlian approach*. Duquesne University Press.
- Giorgi, A. (2012). The descriptive phenomenological psychological method. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 3–12. https://doi:10.1163/156916212X632934
- Goodkind, J., Hess, J., Isakson, B., LaNoue, M., Githinji, A., Roche, N., Parker, D. (2014). Reducing refugee mental health disparities: A community-based intervention to address

post migration stressors with African adults. *Psychological Services*, *11*(3), 333-346. http://doi:10.1037/a0035081.

- Gourevich, P. (1998). We wish to inform you that tomorrow we will be killed with our *families*. New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux.
- Griner, D., & Smith, T. (2006). Culturally adapted mental health interventions: A meta-analytic review. *Psychotherapy*, *43*(4), 531-548. https://doi:10.1037/0033-3204.43.4.531
- Gwozdziewycz, N., & Mehl-Madrona, L. (2013). Meta-analysis of the use of narrative exposure therapy for the effects of trauma among refugee populations. *The Permanente Journal*, 17(1), 70. https://doi: 10.7812/TPP/12-058.
- Habeeb-Silva, R. J. (2016). Resettlement challenges for refugees in the United States. *Electronic These, Projects and Dissertations* (285).
- Hagengimana, A., Hinton, D., Bird, B., Pollack, M., & Pitman, R. K. (2003). Somatic panicattack equivalents in a community sample of Rwandan widows who survived the 1994 genocide. *Psychiatry Research*, 117(1), 1-9. https://doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00301-3
- Hall, B. J., & Olff, M. (2016). Global mental health: Trauma and adversity among populations in transition. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 7(1), 31140-31143. https://doi:10.3402/ejpt.v7.31140.
- Hauck, F. R., Lo, E., Maxwell, A., & Reynolds, P. P. (2014). Factors influencing the acculturation of Burmese, Bhutanese and Iraqi refugees into American society: cross-cultural comparisons. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee studies*, *12*, 331-352. https://doi:10.1080/15562948.2013.848007.
- Hynie, M. (2018). Refugee integration: Research and policy. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 24(3), 265-276. https://doi:10.1037/pac0000326

Human Rights Watch. (1996). *Shattered lives: Sexual violence during the Rwandan genocide and its aftermath*.https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/1996_Rwanda_%20Shattered%20 Lives.pdf.

Human Rights Watch. (2003). *Rwanda: Human Rights Developments*. https://www.hrw.org/legacy/wr2k3/africa9.html.

- Ibrahim, H., & Hassan, C. Q. (2017). Post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms resulting from torture and other traumatic events among Syrian Kurdish refugees in Kurdistan Region, Iraq. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(241). https://doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00241.
- Isakson, B. L., & Jurkovic, G. J. (2013). Healing after torture: The role of moving on. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23(6), 749-761.https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732313482048
- Joseph, S. (2018). After the genocide in Rwanda: Humanistic perspectives on social processes of post-conflict posttraumatic growth. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 46(3), 245-257. https://doi:10.1037/hum9991.
- Joyce, L., & Liamputtong, P. (2017). Acculturation stress and social support for young refugees in regional areas. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 77, 18-26. https://doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.03.016.
- Kiselev, N., Pfaltz, M., Haas, F., Schick, M., Kappen, M., Sijbrandij, M., . . . Morina, N. (2020).
 Structural and socio-cultural barriers to accessing mental healthcare among syrian
 refugees and asylum seekers in switzerland. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *11*(1), 1717825. https://doi:10.1080/20008198.2020.1717825.
- Kohlenberger, J., Buber-Ennser, I., Rengs, B., Leitner, S., & Landesmann, M. (2019). Barriers to healthcare access and service utilization of refugees in Austria: Evidence from a cross-

sectional survey. Health Policy, 123(9), 833-839.

https://doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2019.01.014.

- Kim, I., & Kim, W. (2014). Post-resettlement challenges and mental health of Southeast Asian refugees in the United States. *Best Practices in Mental Health*, *10*(2), 63-77.
- Kim, I. (2016). Beyond trauma: Post-resettlement factors and mental health outcomes among Latino and Asian refugees in the United states. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 18(4), 740-748. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-015-0251-8.
- King, R. U., Heinonen, T., Uwabor, M., & Adeleye-Olusae, A. (2017). The psychosocial wellbeing of African refugees in Winnipeg: Critical stressors and coping strategies. *Journal* of Immigrant & Refugee Studies, 15(4), 345-365. https://doi:10.1080/15562948.2016.1186770.
- Kirmayer, L. J., Lemelson, R., & Barad, M. (Eds.). (2007). Understanding trauma: Integrating biological, clinical, and cultural perspectives. Cambridge University Press.
- Kivunja, C., & Kuyini, A. B. (2017). Understanding and applying research paradigms in educational contexts. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(5), 26-41.
 https://doi:10.5430/ijhe.v6n5p26.
- Kleinman, A. M. (1977). Depression, somatization and the "new cross-cultural psychiatry". *Social Science & Medicine (1967)*, *11*(1), 3-9. https://doi:10.1016/0037-7856(77)90138-x.
- Kleinman, A., Eisenberg, L., & Good, B. (1978). Culture, illness, and care: clinical lessons from anthropologic and cross-cultural research. *Annals of internal medicine*, 88(2), 251-258.
 doi: 10.1176/foc.4.1.140.
- Kleinman, A., & Benson, P. (2006). Anthropology in the clinic: the problem of cultural competency and how to fix it. *PLoS medicine*, *3*(10).

- Krantz, G., Rugema, L., Mogren, I., & Ntaganira, J. (2016). Trauma experienced in the genocide period, mental health effects and barriers to care 17 years later Gunilla Krantz. *European Journal of Public Health*, 26(suppl_1). https://doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckw170.007.
- Koh, L. C., Liamputtong, P., & Walker, R. (2013). Burnese refugee young women navigating parental expectations and resettlement. *Journal of Family Studies*, 19, 297-305. https://doi:10.5172/jfs.2013.19.3.297.
- Leaman, S. C., & Gee, B. C. (2012). Religious coping and risk factors for psychological distress among African torture survivors. *Psychological trauma: Theory, Research, Practice and policy*, 4(5), 457-465. https://doi:10.1037/a0026622.
- Lee, S., Choi, S., Proulx, L., & Cornwell, J. (2015). Community integration of Burmese refugees in the United States. Asian American Journal of Psychology, 6, 333-341. https://doi:10.1037/aap0000027.
- Ley, K. (2006). Bread and roses: Supporting refugee women in a multicultural group. *Intervention*, 4(1), 47-52.
- Li, S. S. Y., Liddell, B. J., & Nickerson, A. (2016). The relationship between post-migration stress and psychological disorders in refugees and asylum seekers. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 18(9), 1-9. https://doi:10.1007/s11920-016-0723-0.
- Lindert, J., Kawachi, I., Knobler, H. Y., Abramowitz, M. Z., Galea, S., Roberts, B., . . . McKee, M. (2019). The long-term health consequences of genocide: Developing GESQUQ a genocide studies checklist. *Conflict and Health*, *13*(1), 1-6. https://doi:10.1186/s13031-019-0198-9.
- Loewy, M. I., Williams, D. T., & Keleta, A. (2002). Group counseling with traumatized East African refugee women in the United States. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 27(2), 173-191.

- Logie, D. E., FRCP, Rowson, M., MSc, & Ndagije, F., MD. (2008). Innovations in Rwanda's health system: Looking to the future. *The Lancet*, 372(9634), 256-261. https://doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60962-9.
- Mahr, I., & Campbell, C. (2016). Twenty years' Post-genocide: The creation of mental health competence among Rwandan survivors through Community-based healing workshops. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 26(4), 291-306. https://doi:10.1002/casp.2263.
- Mbanjumucyo, G., DeVos, E., Pulfrey, S., & Epino, H. M. (2015). State of emergency medicine in Rwanda 2015: An innovative trainee and trainer model. *International Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 8(1), 1-3. https://doi:10.1186/s12245-015-0067-2
- McPherson, J. (2012). Does Narrative Exposure Therapy Reduce PTSD in Survivors of Mass Violence? *Research on Social Work Practice*, 22(1), 29-42. https://doi:10.1177/1049731511414147.
- Meffert, S., Abdo, A., Abd Alla, O., Elmakki, Y., Omer, A., Yousif, S., Marmar, C. (2014). A pilot randomized controlled trial of interpersonal psychotherapy for Sudanese refugees in Cairo, Egypt. *Psychological Trauma-Theory Research Practice and Policy*, 6(3), 240-249. https://doi:10.1037/a0023540.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, A., Hess, J., Bybee, D., & Goodkind, J. (2018). Understanding the mental health consequences of family separation for refugees: Implications for policy and practice. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 88(1), 26-37. https://doi:10.1037/ort0000272.

- Mitschke, D. B., Praetorius, R. T., Kelly, D. R., Small, E., & Kim, Y. K. (2016). Listening to refugees: How traditional mental health interventions may miss the mark. *International Social Work*, 60(3), 588-600. https://doi:10.1177/0020872816648256.
- Mojaverian, T., Hashimoto, T., & Kim, H. S. (2013). Cultural differences in professional help seeking: A comparison of Japan and the US. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 615. https://doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00615.
- Morina, N., Kuenburg, A., Schnyder, U., Bryant, R. A., Nickerson, A., & Schick, M. (2017). The association of post-traumatic and post migration stress with pain and other somatic symptoms: an explorative analysis in traumatized refugees and asylum seekers. *Pain Medicine*, 19(1), 50-59. https://doi10.1092/pm/pn001.
- Morris, M. D., Popper, S. T., Rodwell, T. C., Brodine, S. K., & Brouwer, K. C. (2009).
 Healthcare barriers of refugees post-resettlement. *Journal of Community Healthy*, 34, 529-538. https://doi:10.1007/s10900-009-9175-3.
- Morris, M. W., Leung, K., Ames, D., & Lickel, B. (1999). Views from inside and outside: Integrating emic and etic insights about culture and justice judgement. *Academy of Management Review*, 24(4), 781-796. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1999.2553253.
- Morris, M., Popper, S., Rodwell, T., Brodine, S., & Brouwer, K. (2009). Healthcare barriers of refugees' post-resettlement. *Journal of Community Health*, 34(6), 529-538. https://doi: 10.1007/s10900-009-9175-3.
- Mullins, C.W. (2009). "He would kill me with his penis": Genocidal rape in Rwanda as a state crime. *Critical Criminology*, *17*(1), 15-33. https://doi:10.1007/s10612-008-9067-3.
- Munyandamutsa, N., Mahoro Nkubamugisha, P., Gex-Fabry, M., & Eytan, A. (2012). Mental and physical health in Rwanda 14 years after the genocide. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 47(11), 1753-1761. https://doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0494-9.

- Murray, K. E., Davidson, G. R., & Schweitzer, R. D. (2010). Review of refugee mental health interventions following resettlement: best practices and recommendations. *American Journal* https://doi:10.1037/0033-3204.43.4.531*of Orthopsychiatry*, 80(4), 576-585. https://doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01062.x.
- Mutabaruka, J., Séjourné, N., Bui, E., Birmes, P., & Chabrol, H. (2012). Traumatic grief and traumatic stress in survivors 12 Years after the genocide in Rwanda. *Stress and Health*, 28(4), 289-296. https://doi:10.1002/smi.1429.
- NASW. (2008). Code of Ethics of the National Association. Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/About/Ethics/Code-of-Ethics/Code-of-Ethics-English
- NASW. (2016). NASW Standards for Social Work Practice in Health Care Settings. https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=fFnsRHX-4HE%3D&portalid=0.
- Neugebauer, R., Fisher, P. W., Turner, J. B., Yamabe, S., Sarsfield, J. A., & Stehling-Ariza, T. (2009). Post-traumatic stress reactions among Rwandan children and adolescents in the early aftermath of genocide. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(4), 1033-1045. https://doi:10.1093/ije/dyn375.
- Neugebauer, R., Turner, J., Fisher, P., Yamabe, S., Zhang, B., Neria, Y., Mack, R. (2014). Posttraumatic stress reactions among Rwandan youth in the second year after the genocide: Rising trajectory among girls. *Psychological Trauma-Theory Research Practice and Policy*, 6(3), 269-279. https://doi:10.1037/a0035240.
- Neuner, F., Schauer, M., Klaschik, C., Karunakara, U., & Elbert, T. (2004). A comparison of narrative exposure therapy, supportive counseling, and psychoeducation for treating posttraumatic stress disorder in an African refugee settlement. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(4), 579-587. https://doi:10.1037/0022-006X.72.4.579.

- Ng, L. C., & Harerimana, B. (2016). Mental health care in post-genocide Rwanda: Evaluation of a program specializing in posttraumatic stress disorder and substance abuse. *Global Mental Health (Cambridge, England), 3.* https://doi:10.1017/gmh.2016.12.
- Nickerson, A., Bryant, R. A., Steel, Z., Silove, D., & Brooks, R. (2010). The impact of fear for family on mental health in a resettled Iraqi refugee community. *Journal of Psychiatry Research*, 44(4), 229-235. https://doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.08.006.
- Nsonwu, M. B., Busch-Armendariz, N., Cook, H., Mahapatra, L., & Fong, R. (2013). Marital and familial strengths and needs: refugees speak out. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 22*, 129-144. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2013.785350

Office of the High Commissioner of Humans Rights ([OHCHR], 2018).

Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, Article 11.

OHCHR. Retrieved from

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CrimeOfGenocide.aspx.

Office of Refugee Resettlement. (2015). *Health Insurance*. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/orr/health.

- Ortega, R. M., & Coulborn Faller, K. (2011). Training child welfare workers from an intersectional cultural humility perspective: A paradigm shift. *Child Welfare*, 90(5), 27-49.
- Otake, Y. (2018). Community Resilience and Long-Term Impacts of Mental Health and Psychosocial Support in Northern Rwanda. *Medical Sciences*, 6(4), 94. https://doi: 10.3390/medsci6040094.
- Palmer, I., & Firmin, N. (2011). Mental health in post-genocide Rwanda. International Psychiatry: Bulletin of the Board of International Affairs of the Royal College of Psychiatrists, 8(4), 86-87. https://doi:10.1192/S1749367600002733.

Patton, M. Q. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Perera, S., Gavian, M., Frazier, P., Johnson, D., Spring, M., & Westermeyer, J. (2013). A longitudinal study of demographic factors associated with stressors and symptoms in African Refugees. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 83, 472-482.
- Pham, P. N., Weinstein, H. M., & Longman, T. (2004). Trauma and PTSD symptoms in Rwanda: Implications for attitudes toward justice and reconciliation. *JAMA*, 292(5), 602- 612. https://doi:10.1001/jama.292.5.602.
- Phillimore, J. (2011). Refugees, acculturation strategies, stress and integration. *Journal of Social Policy*, 40, 575-593. https://doi:10.1017/S0047279410000929.
- Piwowarczyk, L., Bishop, H., Yusuf, A., Mudymba, F., & Raj, A. (2014). Congolese and Somali beliefs about mental health services. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 202(3), 209-216. https://doi:10.1097/NMD.00000000000087.
- Porter, M. E., Miller, K., McCreless, M., Carlsson, K., Hudson, J., & Sheldahl-Thomason, H. (2006). Rwanda: National economic transformation. *Harvard Business School*.
- Prunier, G. (1995). *The Rwanda crisis, 1959-1994: History of a genocide*, 354. London: Hurst Publishers.
- Ramsden, R., & Taket, A. (2013). Social capital and Somali families in Australia. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 14(1), 99-117. doi:10.1007/s12134-011-0226-
- Ray, S. L. (2008). Trauma from a global perspective. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 29(1), 63-72. https://doi:10.1080/01612840701748821.
- Refugee Processing Center. (2018). Proposed refugee admissions for fiscal year 2019: Report to congress. Refugee Processing Center. https://www.state.gov/wpcontent/uploads/2018/12/Proposed-Refugee-Admissions-for-Fiscal-Year-2019.pdf

Republic of Rwanda. (2015). *Rwanda demographic and health survey*. https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR316/FR316.pdf.

- Richmond, A. K., & Galgano, F. A. (2019). The 1994 Rwandan Genocide. In *The Environment-Conflict Nexus* (pp. 155-166). Springer, Cham.
- Rieder, H., & Elbert, T. (2013). Rwanda–lasting imprints of a genocide: trauma, mental health and psychosocial conditions in survivors, former prisoners and their children. *Conflict* and Health, 7(1), 6. https//:doi:10.1186/1752-1505-7-6.

Robertson, C. L., Halcon, L., Hoffman, S. J., Osman, N., Mohamed, A., Areba, E., . . . Mathiason, M. A. (2019). Health realization community coping intervention for Somali refugee women. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 1-8. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-018-0804-8.

- Robjant, K., Hassan, R., Katona, C. (2009). Mental health implications of detaining asylum seekers: systematic review. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. *194*(4), 306–312. https://doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108.053223.
- Roth, M., Neuner, F., & Elbert, T. (2014). Transgenerational consequences of PTSD: Risk factors for the mental health of children whose mothers have been exposed to the Rwandan genocide. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 8(1), Article 12-Article 12. https://doi:10.1186/1752-4458-8-12.
- Rugema, L. (2016). Traumatic episodes related to the genocide period, mental health effects and perceived barriers to care facing young adults in Rwanda. *Institute of Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg*.

https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/2077/41554/1/gupea_2077_41554_1.pdf

Rugema, L., Krantz, G., Mogren, I., Ntaganira, J., Persson, M. (2015). "A constant struggle to receive mental health care": Health care professionals' acquired experience of barriers to mental health care services in Rwanda. *BMC Psychiatry*, 15,314. https://doi:10.1186/s12888-015-0699-z.

- Saunders, B., Saunders, B., Sim, J., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Kingstone, T., . . . Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893-1907. https://doi:10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8.
- Sangalang, C. C., Becerra, D., Mitchell, F. M., Lechuga-Peña, S., Lopez, K., & Kim, I. (2019). Trauma, post-migration stress, and mental health: A comparative analysis of refugees and immigrants in the United States. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 21(5), 909-919. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-018-0826-2.
- Sartorius, N. (2007). Stigma and mental health. *The Lancet*, *370*(9590), 810-811. https://doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (07)61245-8.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., . . . Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893-1907. https://doi:10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8.
- Schaal, S., & Elbert, T. (2006). Ten years after the genocide: Trauma confrontation and posttraumatic stress in Rwandan adolescents. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 19(1), 95-105. https://doi:10.1002/jts.20104.
- Schaal, S., Dusingizemungu, J., Jacob, N., & Elbert, T. (2011). Rates of trauma spectrum disorders and risks of posttraumatic stress disorder in a sample of orphaned and widowed genocide survivors. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 2(1), Article 6343-Article 6343. https://doi:10.3402/ejpt. v2i0.6343.
- Schaal, S., Dusingizemungu, J., Jacob, N., Neuner, F., & Elbert, T. (2012). Associations between prolonged grief disorder, depression, posttraumatic stress disorder, and anxiety in

Rwandan genocide survivors. *Death Studies*, *36*(2), 97-117. https://doi:10.1080/07481187.2011.573177.

Schaal, S., Heim, L., & Elbert, T. (2014). Posttraumatic stress disorder and appetitive aggression in Rwandan genocide perpetrators. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma,* 23(9), 930-945. https://doi:10.1080/10926771.2014.956916.

 Schlaudt, V. A., Bosson, R., Williams, M. T., German, B., Hooper, L. M., Frazier, V., ... & Ramirez, J. (2020). Traumatic Experiences and Mental Health Risk for Refugees. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(6), 1943. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17061943.

- Schmied, E., Jackson, V., & Wilkes, I. (2011). Interviewing people about potentially sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*(1), 12–16. https://doi: 10.7748/nr2011.10.19.1.12.c8766
- Schweitzer, R., Melville, F., Steel, Z., & Lacherez, P. (2006). Trauma, post-migration living difficulties, and social support as predictors of psychological adjustment in resettled Sudanese refugees. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(2), 179-187. https://doi:10.1111/j.1440-1614.2006.01766.x.
- Scorza, P., Duarte, C. S., Stevenson, A., Mushashi, C., Kanyanganzi, F., Munyana, M., & Betancourt, T. S. (2017). Individual-level factors associated with mental health in Rwandan youth affected by HIV/AIDS. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52(7), 867-875. https://doi:10.1007/s00127-017-1364-2.
- Shalev, A. Y. (2009). Posttraumatic stress disorder and stress-related disorders. *Psychiatric Clinics*, *32*(3), 687-704.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2009.06.001.
- Shannon, P. J., Wieling, E., Simmelink-McCleary, J., & Becher, E. (2015). Beyond stigma: Barriers to discussing mental health in refugee populations. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 20(3), 281-296. https://doi:10.1080/15325024.2014.934629.

- Shen, Z. (2015). Cultural competence models and cultural competence assessment instruments in nursing: a literature review. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 26(3), 308-321. https://doi:10.1177/1043659614524790.
- Silove, D., Ventevogel, P., & Rees, S. (2017). The contemporary refugee crisis: An overview of mental health challenges. *World Psychiatry*, 16(2), 130-139. https://doi:10.1002/wps.20438.
- Simich, L., Beiser, M., & Mawani, F. N. (2003). Social support and the significance of shared experience in refugee migration and resettlement. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 25(7), 872-891. doi:10.1177/0193945903256705.
- Simmelink, J., Lightfoot, E., Dube, A., Blevins, J., & Lum, T. (2013). Understanding the health beliefs and practices of East African refugees. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 37(2), 155-161. https://doi:10.5993/AJHB.37.2.2.
- Slewa-Younan, S., Uribe Guajardo, M. G., Heriseanu, A., & Hasan, T. (2015). A systematic review of post-traumatic stress disorder and depression amongst Iraqi refugees located in western countries. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 17(4), 1231-1239. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-014-0046-3.
- Staub, E., Pearlman, L., Gubin, A., & Hagengimana, A. (2005). Healing,
 reconciliation, forgiving and the prevention of violence after genocide or mass killing:
 An intervention and its experimental evaluation in Rwanda. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 24(3), 297-334. https://doi:10.1521/jscp.24.3.297.65617.
- Steel, Z., Chey, T., Silove, D., Marnane, C., Bryant, R. A., & van Ommeren, M. (2009).
 Association of torture and other potentially traumatic events with mental health outcomes among populations exposed to mass conflict and displacement: A systematic

review and meta-analysis. JAMA, 302(5), 537–549. 302/5/537 [pii]. https://doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1132.

- Stern, E., Heise, L., & McLean, L. (2018). The doing and undoing of male household decisionmaking and economic authority in Rwanda and its implications for gender transformative programming. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 20(9), 976-91.https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2017.1404642.
- Sulaiman-Hill, C. M., & Thompson, S. C. (2011). Sampling challenges in a study examining refugee resettlement. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 11(1), 2.https://doi: 10.1186/1472-698X-11-2.
- Ter Heide, F. J. J., Mooren, T. M., van de Schoot, R., de Jongh, A., & Kleber, R. J. (2016). Eye movement desensitization and reprocessing therapy v. stabilization as usual for refugees:
 Randomized controlled trial. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 209(4), 311-318.
 https://doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.115.167775.

Ter Heide, F. J. J., Mooren, T., Kleijn, W., de Jongh, A., & Kleber, R. (2011). EMDR versus stabilization in traumatized asylum seekers and refugees: Results of a pilot study. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 2(1), 5881. https://doi:10.3402/ejpt.v2i0.5881.

- Tervalon, M., & Murray-Garcia, J. (1998). Cultural humility versus cultural competence: A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in multicultural education. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 9(2), 117-125.
- Themner, L., & Wallensteen, P. (2013). Armed Conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 50(4), 509-512.https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343314542076.
- Tinghög, P., Malm, A., Arwidson, C., Sigvardsdotter, E., Lundin, A., Saboonchi, F.(2017). Prevalence of mental ill health, traumas and post migration stress among refugees from

Syria resettled in Sweden after 2011: A population-based survey. *BMJ Open*, 7(12), e018899. https://doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018899.

- Turrini, G., Purgato, M., Ballette, F., Nosè, M., Ostuzzi, G., & Barbui, C. (2017). Common mental disorders in asylum seekers and refugees: Umbrella review of prevalence and intervention studies. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 11(1), 51-14. https://doi:10.1186/s13033-017-0156-0.
- Uehara, E., Flynn, M., Fong, R., Brekke, J., Barth, R. P., Coulton, C., ... & Manderscheid, R. (2013). Grand challenges for social work. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 4(3), 165-170.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR]. (2018a). *Figures at a glance*. https://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance.html.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR]. (2018b). *Burundi Regional Refugee Response Plan.* http://www.unhcr.org/partners/donors/5a683fdf7/2018-Burundiregional-refugee-response-plan-january-december-2018.html.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR]. (2018c). *What is a refugee?* .https://www.unrefugees.org/refugee-facts/what-is-a-refugee/.
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR]. (2019). Resettlement to the United States. https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/resettlement-in-the-unitedstates.html?query=Resettlement

United Nations. (1996). Rwanda- UNAMIR.

http://www.un.org/Depts/DPKO/Missions/unamir_b.htm.

 United States Department of State. (2018). Proposed refugee admissions for fiscal year 2018: Report to the Congress. https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/274857.pdf
 Vagle, M. D. (2018). Crafting phenomenological research (2nd ed.). New York: Routledge

- Vogel, D. L., Wade, N. G., & Haake, S. (2006). Measuring the self-stigma associated with seeking psychological help. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 53(3), 325-337. https://doi:10.1037/0022-0167.53.3.325.
- Warfa, N., Curtis, S., Watters, C., Carswell, K., Ingleby, D., & Bhui, K. (2012). Migration experiences, employment status and psychological distress among Somali immigrants: A mixed method international study. *BMC Public Health*, *12*, 749-760. https://doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-749.
- Weaver, H. N. (1999). Indigenous people and the social work profession: Defining culturally competent services. *Social Work*, *44*(3), 217-225.
- Wood, N., Charlwood, G., Zecchin, C., Douglas, V. H., & Pit, S. W. (2019). Qualitative exploration of the impact of employment and volunteering upon the health and wellbeing of African refugees settled in regional Australia: a refugee perspective. *BMC Public Health*, 19(143).
- Worabo, H. J., Yakimo, R., Burgess, A., Farbeman, S. M., Worabo, E., & Hsueh, K.-H. (2016).
 Understanding refugees' perceptions of health care in the United States. *The Journal of Nurse Practitioners*, *12*(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.04.014
- World Health Organization [WHO]. (2014). *Mental Health Atlas*. http://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/atlas/profiles/rwa_mh_profile.pdf.
- Wright, T. M., & Moorthly, S. (2018). Refugees, economic capacity, and host state repression. *International Interactions*, 44(1), 132-155. https://doi:10.1080/03050629.2017.1273915.
- Yako, R. M., & Biswas, B. (2013). We came to this country for the future of our children. We have no future, Acculturative stress among Iraqi refugees in the United States. *International Journal of Intercultural Studies, 38*, 133-141.
 https://doi:10.1016/j.ijintrel.2013.08.003.

- Yun, K., Fuentes-Afflick, E., & Desai, M. M. (2012). Prevalence of chronic disease and insurance coverage among refugees in the United States. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 14(6), 933-940. https://doi:10.1007/s10903-012-9618-2.
- Zraly, M., Rubin-Smith, J., & Betancourt, T. (2011). Primary mental health care for survivors of collective sexual violence in Rwanda. *Global Public Health*, 6(3), 257-270. https://doi:10.1080/17441692.2010.493165.